



Master's Thesis 2023

60 ECTS

Noragric, Faculty of Landscape and Society (LANDSAM)

To Do or Doughnut: Defining the Limits of the Urban Safe and Just Operating Space

Wies Anna-Beitske Dijkstra

Master of Science - International Environmental Studies

The Noragric master theses are submitted by students to obtain a master's degree in one of Noragric master's programmes 'International Environmental Studies', 'Global Development Studies' and 'International Relations'.

The findings in this thesis do not necessarily reflect the views of Noragric. Extracts from this publication (in original or translated form) may only be reproduced after prior consultation with the author and on condition that the source is indicated.

© Wies Anna-Beitske Dijkstra, May 2023 wab.dijkstra@gmail.com NORAGRIC Department of International Environment and Development Studies Faculty of Landscape and Society (LANDSAM) P.O. Box 5003 N-1432 Ås, Norway

Tel.: +47 67 23 00 00

https://www.nmbu.no/fakultet/landsam/institutt/noragric

Declaration

I, Wies Ann-Beitske Dijkstra, declare that this thesis is a result of my research investigations and findings. All sources of information other than my own have, to the extent of my knowledge, been cited and referenced accordingly. This work has not been previously submitted to any other university for the award of any type of academic degree.

Signature: , Date: May 15th, 2023

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I want to express my gratitude to the participants of this study. I want to thank them for their willingness to make time and share their experiences, without them this study would not have been possible.

Thank you, Tor Benjaminsen, for the supervision; you gave me flexibility while steering me towards the final product and confidence in my ability to get there. I also want to thank Connor Cavanaugh for his helpful comments and suggestions. The contributions from the NMBU sustainability arena in the exploration and framing of the topic are also to be acknowledged.

I am grateful to my colleagues and consults at the writing centre for inspiring me and stimulating me to improve my writing and communication skills, you have elevated this work. Thank you for the lessons in writing and structure.

To my dear friends and family, I want to express my deepest gratitude. You gave me the support, encouragement, and confidence I needed. Specifically, I want to thank the Korsegarden collective and the Boulder Bs for their patience with my frustrations.

Lastly, I acknowledge the giants whose shoulders I get to stand on, thank you for giving me perspective.

Summary

This master thesis explores the relevance of the doughnut for sustainable urban planning and decision-making in the context of planetary urbanisation. The doughnut economics model outlines an ecologically safe and socially just operating space for humanity to operate in. The objectives of the study are to describe recent advances in downscaling the doughnut to the local context, explore the doughnut's relevance for sustainable urban planning and decision-making, and evaluate these findings in light of ongoing planetary urbanisation.

The study is relevant because of the urgent need for urban planning and decision-making practices that consider the global impact of local actions and the emergence of the local as a battleground for global sustainability. The thesis used a qualitative research approach, specifically a literature review and case study method, to describe the application of the doughnut model in the local context. Semi-structured interviews were conducted with seven participants who were involved in applying the doughnut model locally. The interviews were transcribed, coded, and analysed thematically to identify patterns and trends between cases.

Results show that working with the doughnut can enhance strategic planning practices by providing a meaningful definition of sustainability that can be communicated both internally and externally. A shared definition of sustainability, among others, promotes goal coherence, and ex-ante consideration of impacts. The findings indicate that local governments have limited capacity to address the different dimensions associated with broader sustainability considerations, calling into question the dominant narrative of the role of cities in saving the planet. The findings indicate that applying the doughnut is mostly relevant for enhancing local exchange processes between actors and strategic planning, but provides limited support for addressing urbanisation impacts at different scales. Working with the doughnut does not inherently challenge the hegemony around local urban and economic growth, as these remain key in meeting the needs of urban dwellers.

The results highlight the need for greater efforts to integrate intergovernmental and academic sectors in sustainability planning to address the cross-scale interactions of urbanisation. Recommendations are made for future research and practice. Working with the doughnut stimulates cities to consider the broader impacts of local actions; this provides an opportunity to change the status quo of interactions between actors in the local governance system, possibly redirecting the operations of local institutions. However, this study raises questions about whether incremental actions of local actors will be enough in halting the rate and pace of socio-ecological deterioration in the age of the urban.

Table of Contents

Introducing the Challenge	1
Limits, Doughnuts, and the Question of Scale	4
On the Nature of Limits	4
Doughnut Economics	5
Scaling the Assessment of the Safe and Just Operating Space	8
The Age of Urbanisation	13
Critical Urban Studies	13
Local Sustainability Governance	17
Method of Exploration	21
Philosophical Worldview	21
Methodological Approach	21
Data Collection	22
Data Analysis	23
Quality Assurance	24
Ethical Considerations	25
Downscaling the Doughnut	27
Literature Review	27
Case studies	32
Integrating the doughnut in urban institutions	42
Discussing the Doughnut in the Age of the Urban	50
Answering Research Questions	50
Interpretations and Implications	53
Recommendation for Future Theory and Practice	58
Concluding Thoughts	60
References	61
Appendices	73
Appendix A: format literature review	73
Appendix B: Case Codebook	74
Appendix C: Interview Guide	74

Introducing the Challenge

Humanity is facing an accumulation of socio-ecological crises as a result of the accelerating rate and pace of socioeconomic processes (Steffen, Broadgate, et al., 2015), causing some to designate this time as the Anthropocene (Crutzen, 2002; Steffen, Broadgate, et al., 2015). We live in a time during which humanity has become one of the driving forces behind biophysical changes at a global scale, resulting in the complex socio-ecological challenges we face today (Steffen, Broadgate, et al., 2015). The most recent Global Risk Report identifies ten short- and long-term risks ranked by the perceived severity of their impacts according to different sectors including academia, business, government, and civil society (World Economic Forum, 2023). The increasing concern about the sustainability of modern societies is reflected in that eight out of ten crises for both terms are socio-ecological challenges. These are related to the rising cost of living, social polarisation, and involuntary migration, as well as natural disasters, ecosystem collapse, failures of climate change mitigation and adaptation measures, and natural resource crises (World Economic Forum, 2023)

These crises are increasingly urgent (Benjaminsen, 2021b) and are contingent on the ability of modern societies' capacity to operate between ecologically safe and socially just boundaries (Gómez-Baggethun & Naredo, 2015). The notion of limits to growth was introduced in the 70s by the Club of Rome (Meadows et al., 1972) and though the topic has been strongly contested (Benjaminsen, 2021b; Gómez-Baggethun & Naredo, 2015), it is important to understand the practical relevance of limits in guiding planning and decision-making for sustainability. One reason why the notion of limits is contested is because of their use in hegemonic Malthusian narratives that potentially perpetuate colonial attitudes towards development and conservation, marginalising vulnerable groups in the process (Mehta et al., 2019; Mehta & Harcourt, 2021; Robbins, 2020a). The Club of Rome identified urbanisation as a key driver of the accelerating rate and pace of global resource use and, in the age of ongoing urbanisation, the notion of limits may be more intuitive, yet also more ambiguous to address (Kaika & Swyngedouw, 2014).

The doughnut economics model builds on the notion of limits to inform policy and practice; it outlines a social foundation and an ecological ceiling which together shape the 'safe and just operating space for human development' (Raworth, 2017b). The visually appealing nature of the model makes it a suitable heuristic for communicating sustainability (Drees et al., 2021; Raworth, 2017a) and both theory and practice are exploring its use across scales. However, global sustainability models based on a limited set of indicators might fail to comprehensively address the complexity of sustainability challenges (Drees et al., 2021), especially in light of uncertainties with downscaling the model to the (sub-) national scales where decision-making

occurs (Häyhä et al., 2016; Steffen, Richardson, et al., 2015). Despite uncertainties and ambiguities regarding downscaling, defining a local safe and just operating space is an emerging topic in theory and practice. Hence, the local application of the doughnut economics framework is a relevant topic for further study, especially considering the need for 'cities that think like planets' (Alberti, 2016).

Humanity is increasingly urban; in 2021, 56% of the global population was living in cities (World Bank, 2023) and this number is projected to keep rising (UN-Habitat, 2020). Urbanisation causes negative ecological impacts because of sprawl, land-use change, biodiversity loss, and high rates of resource and energy consumption and waste production (Inostroza et al., 2013; UN-Habitat, 2020). Urban areas contribute an estimated 50% of the total greenhouse gas emissions (Marcotullio & Solecki, 2013), while climate change exacerbates existing socioeconomic urban inequalities (Nazrul Islam & Winkel, 2017). Cities influence their own local and regional climate via the urban heat island effect and changes in precipitation patterns (Seto et al., 2013). Urban regions are major drivers of environmental change and the current scale of urbanisation and its associated impacts drive the overshoot of the ecological ceiling (Alberti, 2016). Despite this, the common discourse around urbanisation is a win-win/modernisation discourse: sustainable urban development is seen as a solution, rather than a process contributing to environmental crises, and sustainable urban development is to be achieved through increased efficiency and technological advances in planning and design (Asafu-Adjay et al., 2015). This discourse reflects the ecomodernist stance on limits to growth, namely that limits are relative and can be circumnavigated using technology (Asafu-Adjay et al., 2015).

The Purpose of This Study

It is relevant to explore the capacity of local institutions to address global urbanisation challenges using the doughnut, as cities recently have started to explore how the doughnut could be adapted to urban settings (DEAL, 2023a). Few studies have addressed these local doughnut applications and, to the extent of my knowledge, a study of local doughnut applications involving multiple cases has not been conducted. The local is emerging as a key scale for addressing issues of sustainability (Brugmann, 1996; Evans et al., 2006; Næss, 2001), but these efforts can be undermined if their cross-scale interactions are not considered (Alberti, 1996; Elliot, Torres-Matallana, et al., 2022; Ottelin et al., 2020). This study aims to explore the relevance of doughnut economics for sustainable urban planning and decision-making in the context of planetary urbanisation. Using qualitative methods, I will describe recent advances in downscaling the doughnut to the local context, explore the doughnut's relevance for sustainable urban planning and decision-making, and evaluate these findings in

relation to planetary urbanisation. I use empirical data, including academic literature and interviews with practitioners to answer the questions:

- How is doughnut economics currently applied at the local scale?
- What is the perceived relevance of the doughnut for sustainable urban planning and decision-making?

The scope of this thesis is to explore recent advances in local doughnut applications using qualitative methods, departing from and ending with insights from critical urban studies and local sustainability governance. Within this scope, differences and similarities between cases working with the doughnut locally are explored. This study is focused on formal institutions that work with doughnut economics locally and is not limited to a geographical area. This study does not measure how applying the doughnut changes the quantitative performance of urban systems, nor does it explore the context-specific particularities of applying the doughnut in a given location.

In this thesis, I will first present background information about limits, the doughnut economy, and the question of scale, followed by a reflection on theories that help us understand the doughnut in the age of urbanisation. I explain my method of exploration and describe results that show how the doughnut is downscaled to the local context, including a literature review, case descriptions, and lessons learned from using the doughnut in local institutions. I discuss the relevance of the doughnut in the age of the urban by answering the research questions, interpreting findings and discussing their implications, as well as providing theoretical and practical recommendations. I end the document with concluding thoughts about the current relevance of the doughnut in enabling local action for global sustainability.

Limits, Doughnuts, and the Question of Scale

On the Nature of Limits

Back in the 70s, there was recognition of the fact that the ever-increasing consumption of resources on a finite planet would pose a problem in terms of limits to growth (Meadows et al., 1972). Limits are contested; it is considered vital to keep the activities of human societies within the safe ecological operating space of planet Earth (D'Alisa et al., 2015; Gómez-Baggethun, 2020). However, in practice, limits and scarcity can also be constructed and invoked to marginalise or dispossess communities (Mehta et al., 2019; Mehta & Harcourt, 2021; Robbins, 2020a). Hence, focusing on concepts such as ecological limits, scarcity, or carrying capacity when informing policy-making can lead to neglecting the social dimensions of sustainability. Perspectives on the use of limits in policy and practice can loosely be divided into those with modernist (eco) socialist and degrowth paradigms.

Modernist (eco) socialist visions entail the equitable use of technology to create an industrial system in which free time is maximised while ecologically harmful impacts are minimised (Huber, 2021). The elements that constitute production systems (resources, capital, labour, and technology) are constant, but their interrelations are dynamic, resulting in different ways of using nature and organising society (Benjaminsen & Svarstad, 2021; Robbins, 2020b). The perspective of modernist socialism is premised on the idea that ongoing capital accumulation requires technological development, but technological development does not necessitate capital accumulation (Luque-Lora, 2021). The modernist socialism perspective states that modernisation in the face of increasing labour scarcity, while renewable energy sources are abundant, will be required (Robbins, 2020a). For socialist modernists, technological development is the way towards a safe and just world (Huber, 2021).

Degrowth is a critique of the dogmatic neoclassical notion of growth, stating that perpetual economic growth is socially unjust and ecologically unsustainable (D'Alisa et al., 2015). Repurposing the economy to fit within the earth's ecological limits is required for moving towards sustainability (Gómez-Baggethun & Naredo, 2015). Degrowth states that, although limits can be conceptualised in different ways, the existence of ecological thresholds is a very real phenomenon (Gómez-Baggethun, 2020). It is important to be critical of limits, but by completely deconstructing the narrative, one ends up paying service to those who favour 'business as usual' scenarios (Gómez-Baggethun, 2020). Moreover, the premise of modernisation relies on the notion of decoupling economic growth from ecological impacts, something for which empirical support is currently lacking (Dorninger et al., 2021; Gómez-Baggethun, 2020; Wiedmann et al., 2015).

Modernist socialism and degrowth perceptions of limits to growth can be understood to have weak and strong conceptualisations of sustainability respectively, meaning they have different positions on the extent to which different forms of capital (social, ecological, built) can substitute one another (Costanza et al., 2017; Goodland, 1995). The perception of the ability of different forms of capital to substitute one another depends on how environmental problems and prospects of technology are understood (Hornborg, 2016). Socialist modernism understands environmental problems to be the result of capitalist production and technology to be the solution if equitably managed, while degrowth positions perceive environmental problems as the result of the neglect of the material reality of the economy and that physical laws (entropy) limit the potential of technology to address challenges of sustainability (Hornborg, 2016). Practically, weak sustainability conceptualisations might not be enough because it does not provide early warnings of reaching tipping points, and if they provide insight it might be ex-post the occurrence of impacts. Moreover, weak sustainability relies on markets to give these warnings, but markets can (and do) fail (Randall, 2022).

The doughnut is classified as a 'reformist circular society' perspective; it holistically considers social, environmental, economic, and political dimensions and has an optimistic outlook on the use of technology to avoid ecological catastrophe (Calisto Friant et al., 2020). This type of discourse assumes decoupling economic growth from environmental impacts under changed modes of capitalism is possible, aims to achieve well-being for all within ecological limits, and sets out to achieve these aims through enhanced regenerative and distributive socioeconomic systems (Calisto Friant et al., 2020).

Doughnut Economics

Doughnut economics proposes seven ways of thinking for economists in the 21st century (Raworth, 2017b). It states that the current neoclassical economic paradigm is at the root of many of the socio-ecological crises we face today, and proposes an alternative that should enable humanity to operate within a safe and just space across scales (Raworth, 2017b). The seven ways of thinking are 1) change the goal, 2) see the big picture, 3) nurture human nature, 4) get savvy with systems, 5) design to distribute, 6) create to regenerate, and 7) be agnostic about growth (Raworth, 2017b). Changing the goal refers to moving away from the hegemonic focus on GDP growth to focusing on economies that balance development needs with staying within planetary boundaries (Raworth, 2017b). Seeing the big picture implies not only relying on the market as ultimate efficiency but carefully using the market in combination with the state, households, and the commons as key actors in the embedded economy (Raworth, 2017b). Nurturing human nature means moving away from the rational, self-serving idea of 'homo economicus' and recognising that humans are adaptive, reciprocal creatures that do not only influence but are also influenced by their environments (Raworth, 2017b) Getting

savvy with systems refers to focusing on complexity and evolutionary dynamics in socio-ecological systems, rather than trying to model economies according to the laws of physics (Raworth, 2017b). Distributive by design states that economies do not have to create the extreme inequalities we see today and can be designed to not only 'redistribute income', but 'pre-distribute wealth' (Raworth, 2017b). Creating for regeneration refers to the negative impacts associated with the linear design of industrial processes and how these can be made more circular (Raworth, 2017b). Lastly, being agnostic about growth means whether or not economies grow should not be the principal question, but whether people living in those economies are thriving (Raworth, 2017b). The doughnut theory does not aim to prescribe specific policies for what it perceives to be context-dependent challenges of future uncertainty, instead, it aims to collect evolving economic ideas that can guide humanity to a safe and just future (Raworth, 2017b).

In this study, I will be looking at point one, changing the goal from GDP growth to operating within the doughnut (Figure 1), because of the global nature of the model and how this translates into local applications. The doughnut economics model (hereafter the doughnut) consists of a social foundation, informed by the UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), as well as an ecological ceiling as prescribed by the planetary boundary concept (Raworth, 2017b). The framework highlights how human well-being is inextricably linked to planetary health. It emphasises 1) the importance of a stable earth system to meet the basic needs of a growing population, 2) current inequalities both within and between countries highlighted by ecological overshoot and social shortfall, 3) the need to redesign economic theory and policy to align more with regenerative and distributive principles, and 4) the urgent task of better understanding the future socio-ecological landscape in which human development will occur (Raworth, 2017a). The doughnut can assist in showing trade-offs between meeting human needs for a growing population while staying within acceptable levels of risk regarding the planetary boundaries (O'Neill et al., 2018) and can serve as a guideline for the sustainable management of socio-ecological systems (Raworth, 2017a).



Figure 1. The Doughnut of social and planetary boundaries. Kate Raworth and Christian Guthier. CC-BY-SA 4.0 (Raworth, 2017b)

The doughnut is also subject to criticism. Specifically, Spash (2021) argues that the doughnut is a 'passive revolution', lacking a fundamental critique of capitalist structures and mechanisms. Despite critiquing neoclassical models of development, doughnut economics does not challenge the underpinning rationale that growth is necessary for development (Spash, 2021). This is reflected in that the doughnut presumes it is possible to meet the basic needs of all while staying within planetary boundaries, while others argue there is a need to define societal self-limitation is needed in the face of urgent socio-ecological crises (Brand et al., 2021).

The Ecological Ceiling

The planetary boundary concept was originally developed by authors from the Stockholm Resilience Centre and it highlights nine earth system processes and the different risks associated with perturbation (Rockström et al., 2009; Steffen, Richardson, et al., 2015). In doing so, the authors aim to identify a safe operating space for social and economic development to occur while keeping the earth system in a stable, Holocene-like condition (Rockström et al., 2009; Steffen, Richardson, et al., 2015). In an update to the framework, climate change and biosphere integrity are identified as key planetary boundaries, indicating there is a hierarchy in the framework (Steffen, Richardson, et al., 2015). The authors identify five planetary boundaries that are relevant to consider at a regional scale; biosphere integrity, biogeochemical flows, land-system change, freshwater use and atmospheric aerosol loading (Steffen, Richardson, et al., 2015). When the planetary boundaries framework is used in decision-making, it is relevant to consider both interactions and scale (Steffen, Richardson, et al., 2015). The former is because there is currently a lot of uncertainty regarding feedback mechanisms between the boundaries but they need to be understood as an interdependent set of processes that together shape the 'behaviour' of Earth as a 'single, integrated system' (Steffen, Richardson, et al., 2015). The latter is important because the planetary boundaries framework was not developed to be downscaled, however, the authors do recognise that many smaller-scale ecological processes affect the planetary boundaries and that relevant decisionmaking often occurs at the (sub-) national scale (Steffen, Richardson, et al., 2015).

The Social Foundation

The SDGs have been set by the United Nations and they serve as the basis for the social foundation of the doughnut economics concept (Raworth, 2017b). The doughnut economics framework articulates 12 social conditions that need to be met to achieve an acceptable social foundation. A review of socioeconomic indicators suggests an extension to the social foundation and proposes that relevant categories of indicators to consider are family and relationships, perception of self and social security (Custodio et al., 2023). Operating above

the social foundation while staying below the ecological ceiling is implicated by the suggestion that achieving the social needs of a growing population will be possible for some, but not all of the social dimensions under current provisioning systems (O'Neill et al., 2018). One study comparing both the doughnut economics framework to a multi-indicator approach to The SDGs reports that the use of a single or a limited set of indicators to measure the different dimensions of the social foundation raises questions about accuracy (Drees et al., 2021). Though the same authors recognise that the approach, when treated with proper scrutiny, can still be relevant to the local science-policy interface (Drees et al., 2021).

Scaling the Assessment of the Safe and Just Operating Space

The safe and just operating space illustrated by the doughnut is considered relevant for earth system governance processes (Biermann, 2012). However, decisions regarding levels of pollution and resource use are often made at the (sub-)national level (Häyhä et al., 2016). Downscaling the doughnut to the national levels reveals interesting trends: currently, countries that meet the social foundation also commit to ecological overshoot while countries that stay within planetary boundaries do not meet basic human needs (O'Neill et al., 2018). Articulating a regional safe and just operating space is a useful way of communicating challenges of equity and sustainability, and it could be used to start identifying the impact of regions on planetary boundaries (Dearing et al., 2014). However, the planetary boundary framework does not consider the complex interactions between and within the social and ecological domains that represent the boundaries (Dearing et al., 2014). Moreover, a challenge in defining a regional safe and just operating space is to account for how imports and exports allow for the externalisation of socio-ecological impacts between regions (Dearing et al., 2014). The framework needs to be linked to the global dimension to avoid trade-offs between scales, such as achieving regionally increased sustainable outcomes at the expense of other boundaries that are not equally visible at this scale (Dearing et al., 2014).

To operationalise planetary boundaries, and possibly the social foundation across scales consistently, their biophysical, socioeconomic and ethical dimensions need to be considered (Häyhä et al., 2016). The biophysical dimension needs to address both the scale and interactions of and between planetary boundaries, the socioeconomic dimension addresses patterns resulting from economic activity, and the ethical dimension ought to consider matters of fairness and equity (Häyhä et al., 2016). The authors conclude that 1) a distinction needs to be made between processes that directly affect 'the stable global baseline of the earth system' and 'spatially heterogenous, interacting processes that affect multiple components', 2) there is a need for better integration of bottom-up and top-down methods to operationalise planetary boundaries to more local contexts, and 3) there is a need for an interdisciplinary

effort to develop new concepts, tools and techniques that can inform decision-making across scales and sectors (Häyhä et al., 2016). The integration of top-down and bottom-up approaches is especially relevant in light of how socio-ecological impacts can be externalised via trade; bottom-up approaches can account for the upstream effects of production, or the impacts it has generated before the place where it is assessed (Feng et al., 2022).

Thriving Cities and Downscaling with DEAL

The Thriving Cities Initiative, a collaboration between the Doughnut Economics Action Lab (DEAL), Biomimicry 3.8, C40, and Circle Economy developed a city doughnut methodology called the 'city portrait' in 2019 and did a pilot of the method in Amsterdam, Portland, and Philadelphia (DEAL, 2023b). The Thriving Cities Initiative aims to explore tools for holistic thinking, governance, and policy for socially just and ecologically sustainable outcomes (C40 Cities, 2023). The city portrait guide aims to make the method freely available and recommends those applying it to do so in collaboration with multidisciplinary research teams, a diversity of municipal departments, and civil society actors and initiatives (Thriving Cities Initiative, 2020a). The Thriving Cities Initiative guide is developed as a pilot methodology and ought to evolve as cities working with it share their feedback and learning. In future updates, the guide aims to include considerations of historical context and power relations, approaches suitable for less affluent cities, and making the method applicable across multiple scales (Thriving Cities Initiative, 2020a).

The Doughnut Economics Action Lab (DEAL, 2023a) aims to support places that want to explore the doughnut by creating tools, direct communication with governments and initiatives, and facilitating the sharing of best practices and public events. DEAL has further developed tools for cities and regions to downscale the doughnut. The question central to these tools is: "How can our place be a home to thriving people, in a thriving place while respecting the wellbeing of all people and the health of the whole planet?" (DEAL, 2023a). By asking this question, the doughnut is 'unrolled' to reveal both local aspirations and global responsibilities regarding the social foundation and ecological ceiling, creating four 'lenses' elaborated in the following section. DEAL identifies ways in which local governments are exploring the doughnut, such as using it for strategic guidance, measuring and monitoring, and policy and decision-making (DEAL, 2023a).

Unrolling the Doughnut: a Toolbox

Core tools for cities that want to start working with the doughnut have been further elaborated in the DEAL 'doughnut unrolled' toolbox. The toolbox includes an introduction to the four lenses, an exploration of the four lenses, a data

Introducing the four lenses & their dimensions

There are two tools available as an introduction to and an explanation of the dimensions of the four lenses (Raworth et al., 2022; Shorter, Raworth, et al., 2022). These lenses illustrate local aspirations and global responsibilities of a place regarding the social foundation and ecological ceiling four lenses can also be used for ex-ante policy development and analysis.

The local-ecological lens asks: "How can this place be as generous as the wildland next door?" and focuses on designing places inspired by local nature and the delivery of ecosystem services. The dimensions associated with the local-ecological lens are: cleanse the air, house biodiversity, store carbon, recycle water, harvest energy, regulate temperature, build and protect soil, and enhance well-being (Raworth et al., 2022; Shorter, Raworth, et al., 2022). These ecosystem services are considered crucial for creating conditions for life. The global ecological lens asks: "How can this place respect the health of the whole planet?" and focuses on the impacts associated with the metabolism of a place. The dimensions associated with the global-ecological lens are the planetary boundaries. The planetary boundary framework should be considered as a whole, though some boundaries may receive special attention in some places (Raworth et al., 2022; Shorter, Raworth, et al., 2022).

The local-social lens asks: "How can all people of this place thrive?" and focuses on the perceptions and experiences of the inhabitants of places (Raworth et al., 2022; Shorter, Raworth, et al., 2022). The global-social lens asks: "How can this place respect the well-being of all people?" and focuses on global sociocultural connections (Raworth et al., 2022; Shorter, Raworth, et al., 2022). The dimensions associated with the local- and global-social lens are: Water, Food, Health, Education, Income and work, Peace and justice, Political voice, Social equity, Gender equality, Housing, Networks, and Energy (Raworth et al., 2022; Shorter, Raworth, et al., 2022). For the local-social lens, these dimensions can be further unpacked to relate to context-specific experiences. Regarding the global-social lens, these dimensions' global interconnections may result in the development of a place undermining possibilities of socioeconomic development elsewhere (Raworth et al., 2022; Shorter, Raworth, et al., 2022).

Looking at a place through the four lenses should allow for setting up a 'portrait of a place' which in turn should help with identifying interconnections and possibilities (Raworth et al., 2022; Shorter, Raworth, et al., 2022). To turn the portrait of a place into transformative action, one needs to 1) reflect on the current state of a place, 2) create a future vision of a thriving place, 3) bring together stakeholders and change-makers to turn the portrait into action, 4) identify existing initiatives, 5) embrace new values, 6) use complementary tools to keep expanding portrait of the place, 7) create iterative processes that drive cycles of transformation, 8) monitor and assess progress, 9) make it fun and creative (Raworth et al., 2022; Shorter, Raworth, et al., 2022).

Data Portrait of a Place

The data portrait of a place is the follow-up version of the initial Thriving Cities Initiative guide and provides cities with information and tools for identifying targets and indicators that can be used to create a data-led portrait of a place using the doughnut. The tool describes the methods that were used in Amsterdam, Portland, and Philadelphia to create data portraits of place. According to DEAL, this is the most holistic way of downscaling the doughnut. It is a place-based approach that incorporates a) local aspiration & global responsibility, and b) it's scalable (Fanning et al., 2022)

DEAL has developed design principles for the portrait: 1) be locally relevant rather than aiming to compare between places, 2) aim to compare desired outcomes to current performance, 3) offer a holistic 'snapshot' for discussing complex issues, 4) create an opportunity for tracking progress, 5) take the long view, 6) combine data with community perspective (community portrait of place) (Fanning et al., 2022). The data portrait outlines steps to assess the four lenses:

The local ecological lens is assessed by 1) selecting a local-ecological reference habitat, 2) selecting local-ecological dimensions, 3) identifying and selecting methods and data, and 4) selecting place-based indicators to track performance (Fanning et al., 2022). The global-ecological lens is assessed by 1) selecting global-ecological dimensions and gathering data, 2) defining a place-based share of planetary boundaries, and 3) defining a place-based share of national environmental footprints (Fanning et al., 2022). The local-social lens is assessed by 1) selecting local-social dimensions that constitute a place's social foundation, 2) assessing what official targets exist and if they are sufficient, and 3) selecting local-social indicators to track performance (Fanning et al., 2022). The global-social lens is assessed by 1) selecting global-social dimensions and targets and 2) identifying interconnections and place-based performance indicators (Fanning et al., 2022).

By using this approach, the data portrait allows places to identify and/or develop targets and indicators relevant to that place for all four lenses. The data portrait ought to be complemented with the community portrait so that a diverse group of stakeholders is brought together (Fanning et al., 2022).

Community Portrait of Place

This tool presents participatory approaches that places can use to explore the four lenses and focuses on how to prepare workshops, how to start the community portrait and how to enrich the community portrait. In preparing for the workshop, it is important to consider how the four lenses will be presented to participants and what the format of the workshop is (Shorter, Grcheva, et al., 2022a). The tool identifies four ways to start the community portrait: 1) initial

perspectives (what already exists in a place), 2) deepening inquiry (questions to go deeper in the understanding of the four lenses), 3) history of the place (history, global interconnections over time and how they relate to the present), and 4) sense of place (explore outdoor sensations of a place) (Shorter, Grcheva, et al., 2022a). These approaches can be considered complementary. The community portrait can be enriched by drawing up interconnections between the lenses, identifying gaps in the initial exploration, and identifying possibilities for new initiatives (Shorter, Grcheva, et al., 2022a).

Exploring a topic

This tool presents approaches that can be used to explore a specific topic through the four lenses and how a chosen topic can help bring humanity into the doughnut. When exploring a topic, prepare to start by familiarising yourself with the 4 lenses, choosing a specific topic (one of the dimensions from one of the four lenses), and a format through which the topic will be explored (what kind of workshop) (Shorter, Grcheva, et al., 2022). The tool identifies three ways of exploring a topic: a holistic inquiry into what is known about the topic, identifying interconnections between elements of the topic, and identifying possibilities by exploring future visions of the topic (Shorter, Grcheva, et al., 2022).

The doughnut unrolled tools developed by DEAL are supposed to provide a place with complementary information on their safe and just operating space. Both the tool for exploring a topic and creating a community portrait ask their users to explicitly consider whose voices have not been heard in the process (Shorter, Grcheva, et al., 2022).

The Age of Urbanisation

Recent advances in critical urban studies, used here to summarise interdisciplinary efforts to advance our understanding of urbanisation as a process, highlight significant implications towards urban sustainability, raising the question; 'why do we think cities can save the planet?'(Keil, 2020). Understanding cities and urbanisation not only as places in space but as processes in time, requires us to rethink the matter of urban sustainability (Inostroza & Zepp, 2021; Solecki et al., 2013). Defining the relevance of an urban safe and just operating space for informing planning and decision-making requires a closer inspection of what the urban is, as well as the local institutional capacity to deal with questions of its sustainability.

Critical Urban Studies

In this section, I will highlight important advances in the field of critical urban studies that enable a better understanding of the city and the urban. I use the term critical urban studies to refer to a range of disciplines, including urban, industrial, and political ecology, that critically engage with the nature of the city and its associated urbanisation process.

To define an urban safe and just operating space, we first need to closely inspect what the urban is. We live in the age of planetary urbanisation, referring not only to the increasing number of urban dwellers but to the extended impacts the urbanisation process has on places and people far beyond the geographical boundary of the city (Heynen, 2014; Kaika & Swyngedouw, 2014; Swyngedouw, 2006). The urban and the city are not one and the same; the former is a socio-ecological process and the latter is the outcome of that process in a specific place in space and time (Angelo & Wachsmuth, 2015). Planetary urbanisation and its associated environmental impact could lead to exceeding the planetary boundaries (Alberti, 2016). Despite the challenges related to urbanisation, the concept remains poorly understood. Urbanisation is measured along a dichotomous gradient ranging from urban to natural and where on this gradient a region falls is determined by population size (Inostroza et al., 2019). This conceptual confusion about the definition of urbanisation greatly hinders a better understanding of urban sustainability challenges (Brenner & Schmid, 2011; Inostroza et al., 2019). The rate and pace of urbanisation taking place globally necessitate a comparative science of urbanisation that provides a better explanation of what socio-ecological processes constitute urban systems and how these interact with other systems across scales (Solecki et al., 2013). A science of urbanisation processes can inform decision-makers about the sustainability of urban systems from a multi-scale perspective (Solecki et al., 2013).

Planetary urbanisation necessitates an understanding of urban systems as hybrid systems, referring to both the system structure (the city), but also its metabolism; the exchange relationships that build, maintain, and advance the complexity of the urban system (Alberti,

2016; Broto et al., 2012; Newell & Cousins, 2015). Urban metabolism can be considered a boundary metaphor, a term that allows for interaction and engagement with a topic by different scholarly disciplines (Broto et al., 2012; Newell & Cousins, 2015). Marx was one of the first to use the term metabolism to describe the socio-ecological processes of transformation he saw unfold during the industrial revolution (Swyngedouw, 2006). He was inspired by the chemist von Liebig, who used the German word 'schtoffweschel' to refer to the mechanism by which living things arranged material and energy exchanges both internally and with their environments (Swyngedouw, 2006). A review of interdisciplinary literature on urban metabolism identifies six main themes: 1) studying the city as an ecosystem, 2) looking at the material and energy flows that move through urban systems, 3) metabolism as the material basis for the economy, 4) as an economic driver of core-periphery relations, 5) as a material expression of the reproduction of urban inequality, and 6) as a means of re-signifying socioecological relationships, where material flows are influenced by the political-historic context in which they occur (Broto et al., 2012). An interdisciplinary perspective on urban metabolism sheds light on how transitioning towards urban sustainability requires significant transformations in patterns of production and consumption (Broto et al., 2012). Building on industrial, urban, and political ecology approaches, the metaphor of the 'metabolism of urban ecosystems' can be further specified as: "a global circulatory process of socio-natural relations that transforms and (re)creates urban ecosystems through the exchange of resources, capital, humans, and non-humans into and out of the spaces of global urbanisation" (Newell & Cousins, 2015 p. 721). Urbanisation as a metabolic process has significant implications for current dominant discourses on urban sustainability (Kaika & Swyngedouw, 2014).

The urban can be conceptualised as a space of flows in which processes of socio-ecological change and transformation result in the production of cities (Inostroza & Zepp, 2021; Swyngedouw, 2006). From a material perspective, urban metabolism studies focus mostly on inputs and outputs moving through the urban system, treating the city itself as a 'black box' (Inostroza, 2014). Urban metabolic flows can be divided into urban anabolism and urban catabolism, referring to the accumulations of materials in and the flows of materials through the urban system, respectively. The quantified accumulation of stuff, such as buildings, infrastructure, and other consumer goods in a given area of land can be defined as technomass (Inostroza, 2014). Technomass provides a better understanding of urban metabolism by highlighting how the production, transformation, circulation, and consumption of resources and energy results in material accumulation in the form of urban tissue (Inostroza, 2014). When looking at cities as hybrid systems composed of technomass, they can be understood according to some principles from ecology. This reveals that technomass structures, as opposed to biomass structures, have a metabolism that corresponds to size;

the metabolism speeds up, rather than slows down, as the city grows (Alberti, 2016). Metabolic urban networks can be used to conceptualise how urban function relies on resources extracted from spatially and temporally distant places and periods, showing how urbanisation is a strategy of colonising other urban and non-urban ecosystems where material and monetary flows are recursively related (Hornborg, 2016; Inostroza & Zepp, 2021). We need to understand the city as a system in which technomass, anthropogenic material expressed as volume/area, rather than biomass, is accumulated, and urbanisation as the associated metabolic process of that ecosystem (Alberti, 2016; Hornborg, 2016; Inostroza, 2018; Inostroza & Zepp, 2021). Urban metabolism helps us understand the phenomenon of planetary urbanisation by showing how urbanisation is contingent on the operation of spatially and temporally distant systems in providing the energy and resources needed for the (re)production of form and function (Inostroza & Zepp, 2021). The urban metabolism perspective shows that urban sustainability is not only a matter of nature in the city, but a matter of the urbanisation of nature through complex multi-scalar social metabolic arrangements (Keil, 2005; Swyngedouw, 2006).

Indicators used to assess the sustainability of urban systems need to connect patterns of urbanisation to the conditions of resource use to provide meaningful information on whether or not the system is sustainable across scales (Alberti, 1996). The use of indicators to measure local sustainability is beneficial for multiple reasons, including monitoring changes, setting targets, and public communication (Alberti, 1996). Indicators of urban sustainability should consider urban quality (physical and socioeconomic conditions), urban flows (resource flows mediated by information and infrastructure), and urban patterns (how patterns of urbanisation affect urban quality and flows) (Alberti, 1996). The local scale is confronted with amplified issues of data availability and quality, and local governance systems tend to opt for a limited number of meaningful indicators, as opposed to global actors that seek to harmonise the measuring and monitoring of urban systems (Alberti, 1996). Dealing with issues of complexity, scale, and uncertainty, as well as identifying relevant measurements and reference conditions are important scientific challenges to assessing the sustainability of the urban (Alberti, 2016).

Cities are human habitats, and urban metabolisms are therefore not governed by the same principles as natural ecosystems (Alberti, 2016). Recognising that human institutions and agency are key in shaping the accumulation of technomass in urban centres raises the question of power and justice, as the accumulation of technomass in one place necessitates the extraction and transformation of resources from and in different places in the world system (Hornborg, 2016). In this way, planetary urbanisation can be understood as the accumulation of technomass in urban centres, at the expense of socio-ecological impacts externalised in space and time (Alberti, 2016; Hornborg, 2016). From a sociocultural perspective, urban

metabolism reveals how metabolic flows are subject to actors, institutions and power relations, producing uneven outcomes both locally and globally (Dorninger et al., 2021; Elliot, Goldstein, et al., 2022; Swyngedouw, 2006). Locally, political ecology studies show how urban systems can have differentiated metabolisms for specific resource flows that are reproduced along class divides (Swyngedouw & Kaika, 2014), and how the negative impacts of urbanisation are locally borne by vulnerable and marginalised groups (Heynen et al., 2006). From a global perspective, urbanisation implies improving the living conditions of some at the expense of other people and places in the world system (Arboleda, 2016; Hornborg, 2016; Swyngedouw, 2006). This relates to the aforementioned material nature of urbanisation, which is contingent on the dissipation of energy and resources for the maintenance and reproduction of form and function (Alberti, 2016; Inostroza, 2018). Urban systems rely on their hinterlands for the extraction of resources but globalised and specialised commodity production has resulted in hinterlands being embedded in larger systems of supply chains, making it difficult to connect areas of production and consumption (Brenner & Katsikis, 2020). The process of metabolic rift leads to the progressive exhaustion of ecological surplus for the sake of maintaining the urban system, reinforced by decreasing returns on resource extraction from existing frontiers (Brenner & Katsikis, 2020).

The use of fossil fuels has enabled certain parts of the world system to separate the energy and land requirements for maintaining their metabolism from their geographical territory (Hornborg, 2016), and this becomes especially visible in the relationship between cities and their hinterlands. Networked megaregions are made possible socio-metabolic networks between centres and peripheries (Alberti, 2016; Hornborg, 2016). An empire can be defined as an expansive entity that seeks to extend its spatial territory by engulfing other (in)formal societies, to control those societies' resources (Hornborg, 2016). Cities and their associated metabolism speed up the process of space-time compression (Alberti, 2016) and political ecology has to understand urbanisation as contingent on modern technology; a social strategy for shifting social and environmental burdens elsewhere (Hornborg, 2016). The city relies on asymmetric exchanges with other parts of the world system; the accumulation of technomass at the core is not only because of ingenuity, but because of different market prices for labour and resources in different parts of the world system (Hornborg, 2016; Inostroza & Zepp, 2021). World systems analysis shows how local conditions are dependent on wider, less visible fields of interaction, and can be applied to the urban by looking at cities as the core (zone of accumulation) that unequally exchanges manufactured products for raw materials from its hinterlands, or the periphery (zone of degradation) (Arboleda, 2016; Hornborg, 2016; Inostroza & Zepp, 2021).

The logic of unequal exchange is such that production = destruction; in the process of producing economic value through the urbanisation of nature (Swyngedouw, 2006), the productive potential of that transformed nature is progressively reduced (Hornborg, 2016). In other words, unequal exchange is the outcome of interactions between material and monetary flows, where the output of economic processes results in both greater utility and entropy than was originally put in (Hornborg, 2016). In urban systems, the accumulation of technomass at the core is facilitated by metabolic urban networks (Hornborg, 2016; Inostroza & Zepp, 2021) that degrade socio-ecological conditions in hinterlands (Arboleda, 2016), a process mediated by flows of money (Hornborg, 2016; Inostroza & Zepp, 2021). The use of 'general purpose money' allows for anything to be expressed as interchangeable and conceals the asymmetries between flows of matter and money as they move from and to different parts of the world system (Hornborg, 2016). Increased dissipation of productive potential in the production of modern cities equates to greater monetary value generation, in turn allowing for that monetary value to make claims on more resources to dissipate in the urbanisation process (Hornborg, 2016).

Local Sustainability Governance

To study urban systems we have to integrate multiple boundaries and analyse processes at multiple scales (Alberti, 1996). We need to explicitly consider human agency and link urban structure and human behaviour to ecosystem functions (Alberti, 2016). If ecosystems can exist in more than one stable state, each state delivering a different set of functions, then deciding which set to preserve becomes a matter of social preferences (Vatn, 2015). There may be trade-offs between processes that support desired human functions (Alberti, 2016). Biophysical systems create emergent configurations in response to change and in social systems there are partly emergent configurations of agent interactions, but also shaping and planning of structural transformations; "what makes cities unique ecosystems is human agency" (Alberti, 2016 p. 23).

The local scale is emerging as a key level in taking action towards global sustainability (Brugmann, 1996; Evans et al., 2006; Næss, 2001). A distinction should be made between local governance and local government, where the latter is comprised of political institutions operating at the local scale, while the former includes deliberation, negotiation, and partnerships with civil and economic sectors (Evans et al., 2006; Vatn, 2015). Changing trajectories to move into a safe and just operating space might imply changing governance structures (Vatn, 2015). Governance structures are made up of actors (political, economic, civil) and institutions that facilitate interactions between actors (Vatn, 2015). Governance structures affect actions and outcomes because they influence the distribution of rights and responsibilities, the level of transaction costs (cost of building and maintaining institutions).

perceptions, and preferences (Vatn, 2015). Perceptions of the state of the environment can be influenced by visual communication (Benjaminsen, 2021a). Visuals are a powerful tool for influencing environmental discourses because of denotation (literal meaning), connotation (cultural values), and myth (ideological ideas) that can be communicated in an image, but visual communication is an understudied subject in environmental discourse (Benjaminsen, 2021a).

It is important to distinguish between spontaneous and designed change, which happen bottom-up and top-down respectively while recognising that formal institutions, like governments, will always be partly designed (Vatn, 2015). Changing institutions to improve environmental outcomes is demanding because of path dependence. The initial conceptualisation of path dependency is centred around three aspects; 1) what is perceived as a small event has considerable effects, 2) these effects lead to the 'lock-in' of development paths, and 3) locked-in paths are in a stable state until exposed to shock or disruption (Evenhuis, 2017). The path dependency approach has been criticised as it does not say much more than that the history of an institution matters, it can only explain stability as opposed to change, and because the normative dimension of the approach is often unaddressed (Kay, 2005). Subsequent evolution of the concept has addressed these critiques by analysing institutional path dependence as a dynamic process, focusing on how self-reinforcing feedback mechanisms create either conditions of lock-in or dynamic changes (Evenhuis, 2017). Changes in institutions are mediated by actor-structure interactions; actors influence the structures in which they operate, while structures also influence the operations of actors (Evenhuis, 2017; Vatn, 2015). Changes are conditioned by already existing institutions through a dynamic and ongoing process referred to as 'path plasticity', the role of agentstructure interactions in bringing about changes (Evenhuis, 2017). The urgency of environmental issues might drive actors to bring about incremental changes to the structures in which they operate by utilising path plasticity effects (Evenhuis, 2017; Vatn, 2015).

Urban planning and design have been strongly influenced by modernist approaches including rational and mechanic perspectives on the operation of urban systems (Heymans et al., 2019; Marshall, 2012) and sustainable development implies urban planning practices cannot continue under a business-as-usual scenario (Næss, 2001). The advancing of critical urban studies necessitates a new urban planning and design paradigm that can achieve more harmonious socio-ecological relationships by understanding cities as complex hybrid systems (Alberti, 2016; Heymans et al., 2019). Complex urban systems necessitate new planning structures that facilitate the management under the inherent uncertainty of the system, rather than management assuming predictability of the future (Batty & Marshall, 2012; Portugali, 2012).

In terms of spatial planning, minimising energy and resource use, limiting urban encroachment, halting the use of environmentally harmful construction materials, transitioning to circular economies, and planning for the health and well-being of urban dwellers are considered important in terms of sustainable development trajectories for cities in affluent countries (Næss, 2001). Traditional environmental planning can be adapted to facilitate planning approaches for urban sustainability by employing participatory approaches to involve communities in development, articulating current ideas on development and related systematic problems and requirements, measuring the global impacts of local activities, and ensuring local strategic control (Brugmann, 1996).

Two urban development models that claim to be sustainable are compact city development (focused on densification) and green city development (focused on creating green spaces within the city), and the former appears better suited to address the sustainability of spatial planning (Næss, 2001). The existing building stock in affluent countries challenges sustainable urban development because it calls into question the ability of circular economies to be sustainable if they serve to keep increasing the building stock (Inostroza, 2014; Næss, 2001). Sustainability policies focused on minimising impacts within the city boundary can produce severe negative impacts on the extended urban fabric, highlighting the urgent need to conceptualise cross-scale urbanisation impacts (Elliot, Torres-Matallana, et al., 2022). Urban sustainability strategies should not only focus on local ecological restoration but also on changes in consumption and distant ecological restoration (Elliot, Goldstein, et al., 2022), and need to pay special attention to rebound effects in consumption and 'leakage' or trade-offs between environmental goals (Ottelin et al., 2019, 2020). Local planning practice should ensure that socio-ecological impacts that manifest themselves at other scales ought to be accounted for (Næss, 2001).

In planning for sustainable urban development, neither market forces nor incremental government planning seems sufficient to address the concerns of sustainable development, but incremental approaches offer an opportunity for institutional learning (Næss, 2001). The successful adaptation of sustainability initiatives at the local scale is influenced by different variables, such as political culture, institutional structure, interactions between different scales of government, and the prosperity of the local economy (Saha, 2009). Goal-oriented planning processes are important, however, setting goals to maximise utility in planning can also lead to the marginalisation of the interests of minority groups (Næss, 2001). In response to this, a recent focus on participatory planning processes is emerging, however, this does not ensure more sustainable outcomes (Næss, 2001).

Urban planners can promote sustainable development by employing scenario-planning approaches to evaluate the impacts of different development trajectories and use their professional experience to devise plans that are most in line with meeting The SDGs (Næss, 2001). Sustainable urban development requires integration between assessment, planning, development and management processes so that they are strategically aligned (Yigitcanlar & Teriman, 2015). To avoid political retaliation against individual planners, impact assessments and monitoring of strategic urban plans should be in the legislation (Næss, 2001). The use of urban metabolism has the potential to improve the accountability of strategic planning (Zengerling, 2019).

A review of sustainability principles of modern cities concludes that the required interventions are extensive and that the governance of future cities ought to consider circular economy models, as well as building principles that allow for the built environment to mimic natural cycles (i.e., carbon and water) (Sodiq et al., 2019). However, local governments face capacity issues when engaging with sustainability initiatives because there is a trade-off between allocating capacity to sustainability versus ongoing processes (Bridges, 2016). Changing local institutions means redirecting path dependencies to enhance institutional capacity by experimentally and iteratively learning to deal with complex sustainability challenges (Bridges, 2016).

Method of Exploration

Philosophical Worldview

This study is underpinned by a critical realist worldview. Critical realism is a comprehensive philosophy of science that ontologically arranges reality into three layers; the empirical, the actual, and the real (Fletcher, 2017) and is considered relevant in the context of the urban (Næss, 2015). The empirical layer of reality consists of those phenomena that can be observed and measured by humans, the actual are those phenomena that occur regardless of human observation, and the real are the causal mechanisms that cause certain phenomena to take place (Fletcher, 2017; Næss, 2015). Making an ontological distinction between these layers of reality is relevant for the subsequent analysis because critical realism makes use of retroductive reasoning to identify tendencies under which certain causal mechanisms occur (Fletcher, 2017). Critical realism does not aim to prove causation, rather it aims to identify 'demi-regularities', trends and patterns identified through qualitative coding, which are then explained through a process of retroductive reasoning, using theory to understand how causal mechanisms produce the observed empirical results (Fletcher, 2017). The critical realist view is useful because it allows for the integration of multiple disciplines in the exploration of the safe and just operating space of urban systems, investigating causal powers of agents and structures and their influence on urban processes, and making generalisations about the relevance of the doughnut for sustainability in the context of planetary urbanisation (Næss, 2015).

Methodological Approach

To address the aim of exploring the relevance of doughnut economics for sustainable urban planning and decision-making in the context of planetary urbanisation, this study uses an exploratory qualitative approach. A qualitative research approach was the most appropriate considering the relative novelty of applying doughnut economics in urban settings. Therefore, a qualitative approach is useful to address emergent questions (Creswell & Creswell, 2018) related to doughnut economics in the context of planetary urbanisation. Specifically, this study relies on content analysis of relevant literature and exploratory case study research of cities applying the doughnut to describe recent advances in downscaling the doughnut and explore its relevance for sustainable urban planning and decision-making. An exploratory qualitative case study approach indicates information was gathered on several cases to illustrate how they may differ or converge in terms of their respective experiences with doughnut economics, the findings of which are used to reflect on local doughnut applications in the context of planetary urbanisation.

Data Collection

I used different combinations of the search terms 'urban/local/city' and 'doughnut economic/safe and just operating space' to gather studies about local doughnut applications. Google Scholar was used because it would ensure the broadest inclusion of literature, rather than only indexed studies. The content analysis is by no means exhaustive and should be considered an exploration. After the initial search, only documents that related specifically to doughnut economics in urban settings or to methods for downscaling the doughnut to the urban scale were selected. These were consequently read and summarised using the template in Appendix A.

Data collection for the case study primarily relied on semi-structured interviews with planners and policy-makers from cities working with the doughnut and complemented with web pages and policy documents (Table 1). Via the DEAL web page on cities and regions, a sample of cities was selected. A total of 7 interviews were conducted with planners and decision-makers from the following cities:

City	Country
Amsterdam	The Netherlands
Bad Nauheim	Germany
Barcelona	Spain
Cornwall	United Kingdom
Dunedin	New Zealand
Nanaimo	Canada
Tomelilla	Sweden

Table 1. Cases investigated in this study

Initially, only cities that had taken steps to operationalise the doughnut were approached, however, due to few responses, the final sample included all cities featured on the DEAL web page. Cornwall is included despite not being a city because of limited responses and because their approach to the doughnut adds an interesting complementary perspective. These cities were approached via e-mail/contact form, depending on what was available, with the request to interview planners and decision-makers who had been involved in the process of applying the doughnut. Purposive targeting of interviewees is appropriate considering the research design, as the overall population is small, hence it is relevant to address interviewees as directly as possible. Interviewees were sent an information letter with additional information about the aims of the study and received the interview questions in advance if they explicitly requested that. The interview protocol that guided the semi-structured interviews can be found in Appendix C. The interviews were conducted between November 2022 and December 2023, they lasted around an hour and were recorded using MS Teams ©. After the interviews were

conducted, information on the case was complemented with information from planning/strategic documents and/or government web pages if the information was available in English. This data was collected both through web searches as well as via interviewees who sent additional documents after the interview.

Data Analysis

The selection of documents for the literature review yielded a list of 25 documents specifically concerned with applying the doughnut to the local scale. These documents were synthesised based on the table in Appendix A. These studies were categorised and described in how they relate to our understanding of the urban safe and just operating space, resulting in the themes of urban planning and design, institutional use, and assessment.

The case descriptions were created based on a case codebook found in Appendix B. The case codebook is by no means exhaustive, but aims to elucidate the different and converging processes of integrating doughnut economics in local decision-making settings of the studied cases. To this end, the codebook seeks to identify what motivated the city to work with the doughnut, the context in which the doughnut is applied, how the application of the doughnut was initiated, what approach the city is taking, and what challenges they face. The case descriptions were created based on information provided by the interviewees, complemented with information that is available online (web pages, administrative documents, plans etc.). The extent to which each case could be complemented with additional data sources other than interviews was highly dependent on the extent to which the city had applied the doughnut.

Interview transcripts were analysed using a flexible deductive coding approach (Fletcher, 2017). First, transcripts were printed and subject to exploration for initial conceptual codes. The transcripts were further analysed with MAXQDA © using both the initial list of conceptual codes, as well as important themes from the interview questions that would inform the case descriptions. The list of conceptual codes was further refined through three rounds of coding and the coded segments for each code and each transcript were summarised to contrast trends and patterns between cases. This was done to identify 'demi-regularities' (Fletcher, 2017) or similarities and differences between local governments working with the doughnut. Lessons learned between the different cases included in this study were divided according to the themes of 'holistic thinking about sustainability', 'governance structures', 'influence, capacity, and funding', 'champions and political uncertainty', 'application', 'assessment and data', 'scale', and 'the matter of growth'. These are illustrated using quotes from the interviews, however, to protect the identity of interviewees, I have opted to introduce the quotes as anonymous statements rather than as statements associated with specific cases.

Quality Assurance

The quality of the literature review and case descriptions was ensured by using a format that allowed for the extraction of diverse information as coherently as possible. This was done iteratively by exploring the available information on both literature and cases and adapting the summary table and codebook as new insights emerged. Interviews were conducted by mostly adhering to the semi-structured interview guide, diverging on topics that were of interest to that specific case. For example, if a case had focused on participation rather than assessment in applying the doughnut, more questions were asked about that. After the first two interviews, the topic of growth was brought up without being included in the interview guide, and was therefore added. Also, a question about the interviewees' experience in urban planning and design, in general, was taken out as I concluded this did not result in highly relevant information and interrupted the flow of the interview. Only these questions were added and removed after conducting the first two interviews, otherwise, the guide remained the same. Interviews were transcribed and coded multiple times to ensure the most appropriate bottomup approach was selected for the final presentation of results. One interview failed to record and could not be transcribed; the findings from this interview were based on notes taken while it was conducted and elaborated after the interview ended. I ensured all relevant alternative information on this specific case was accurately reflected and only include consideration of the most important finding of this interview in the overall results.

Strengths and Weaknesses

These findings need to be considered in light of the following strengths and weaknesses of this study.

The weaknesses of this study are that it only interviewed one government official per city, meaning it does not include alternative perspectives from within the government or the governance system of that place. Because only one person per case was interviewed, possible opposition to the doughnut was not explicitly investigated in this study. The study has only investigated cases that work with the DEAL approach to downscaling and all cases follow a top-down approach to applying the doughnut, providing no insight into how alternative, bottom-up doughnut applications take place.

The strengths of this study are that it is the first to compare the local use of the doughnut between cases, elucidating lessons learned from multiple experiences rather than an in-depth single case study. In this study, the practical use of the doughnut in local institutions is contrasted with theories on critical urban studies and local sustainability governance, to further explore its ability to address urban sustainability and the institutional constraints of dealing with sustainability at this scale. Contrasting theory and practice is a strength in sustainability

science, as the urgency to address socio-ecological crises necessitates greater integration between information that accurately assesses the sustainability of systems across scales and information that is practically useful to meaningfully change the sustainability of those systems.

Reflexivity

I started this study with a sceptical outlook on urban doughnut applications. Due to previous knowledge of urban metabolism, defining a safe and just urban operating space raised questions about the accuracy of such assessments and relevance for sustainable urban planning and decision-making. Conducting this study has changed my outlook on urban doughnut applications. I am still sceptical about the accuracy of the assessment of the doughnut given the complex nature of urban systems, but through the interviews, I learned about the value of the doughnut in facilitating enhanced local communication. Moreover, the model is used by actors that, despite operating under severe constraints, are making significant efforts to improve the sustainability of local systems. These actors are aware of the complex, cross-scale nature of socio-ecological impacts, but are also limited in their capacity to address this in their role as local administrators. Interviewing these actors was a humbling experience because it revealed the practical difficulties of locally acting for global sustainability, as well as the creativity employed by practitioners to address this challenge.

I found it challenging to present the interrelated challenges that local governments face when applying the doughnut in my results section. I addressed this by switching back and forth between writing up results and organising an initially long list of bottom-up codes into coherent themes, allowing for a more thorough exploration of patterns and trends and their interrelations in the data. In light of this challenge, as well as due to some explicit requests, I provided interviewees with the option to comment on the results before completion.

In this study, I have opted to synthesise a range of literature to come to a better understanding of emergent practical phenomena and I experienced a trade-off between synthesising diverse perspectives versus the ability to discuss these in more detail. Connecting theory and practice was a challenge, however, reflecting on the science-policy interface of urban sustainability was considered an important aspect of this study that strengthened its relevance for theory and practice.

Ethical Considerations

This study was approved by the SIKT and data collection and analysis were performed following their standards. SIKT is the Norwegian agency for shared services in education and research, a public institution that seeks to facilitate infrastructure for data management, sharing of data, and data protection services (SIKT, n.d.). The interviewees were provided with information about the project before consenting to participate and given the opportunity

to comment on the results before completion. No personal data of interviewees was used and their identities are only known by the individuals involved in this study. In line with general research ethics, I adhere to the principles of respect, good consequences, fairness, and integrity. I consider the principles of respect and good consequence to be of special importance; the efforts made by respondents to partake in the study ought to be met with respect for their contributions and the aim to create good consequences for respondents through my study (The National research ethics committees, 2019)

Downscaling the Doughnut

I start by describing recent advances related to downscaling the doughnut to the local scale. I do so by reflecting on academic literature published on the topic and practical examples of the doughnut being applied locally.

Literature Review

In the following section, I briefly synthesise the results from reviewing the literature on local doughnut economics. This review should not be considered exhaustive, rather, it serves to illustrate how academia is engaging with the local safe and just operating space. The reviewed papers were divided into the themes of urban planning and design, institutional use, and assessment.

Urban Planning and Design

Four of the articles included in the review deal with how the doughnut can be used in specific urban planning and design practices. Two of these articles relate to using the doughnut for identifying synergies and trade-offs in the built environment (Benites & Osmond, 2021; Hassan, 2022). One uses the doughnut as a means of comparing inequality in transportation (Moghaddam et al., 2022), and the other uses it to explore the sustainable use of the urban underground space (Paraskevopoulou et al., 2019). Bioconnections are proposed as a framework to link the urban built environment to the different dimensions of the doughnut by looking at ways to enhance regenerative circularity in urban planning and design choices (Benites & Osmond, 2021). A thesis developing and testing a framework for assessing tradeoffs and synergies between dimensions of the doughnut in urban development projects uses a case study and concludes that the doughnut is a suitable heuristic for urban planning, but requires additional steps to be used as a concrete planning tool (Hassan, 2022). The doughnut is used as a lens to study future inequality related to different types of transportation and make recommendations on what modes of transportation are most effective to stay within a safe and just operating space (Moghaddam et al., 2022). Another study uses the doughnut as a lens to look at the social, economic, and environmental sustainability of the urban underground space and concludes that this allows for greater consideration of different dimensions of sustainability when designing and planning for the use of underground spaces (Paraskevopoulou et al., 2019).

Institutional Use

Eight articles discuss the use of doughnut economics in local institutions. These articles cover a range of topics related to how the doughnut is or could be used in local institutions, including the role of participation and partnerships, critical examinations of the doughnut's transformative potential, and cases where the doughnut has been applied.

One article examining the role of community-led initiatives in achieving regenerative urban transitions concludes that bottom-up community initiatives have the potential to bring about transformative change regarding the doughnut economy (Crowley et al., 2021). However, this requires community-led initiatives to have the power to change existing structures, which is currently lacking and therefore, these initiatives operate at the margins of urban transitions (Crowley et al., 2021). Another paper established the role of public-private partnerships as crucial in sustainable urban development by looking at how these partnerships relate to different doughnut dimensions and what role they play in housing development (Fell & Mattsson, 2021). The doughnut is used in a photovoice study where participants living in slums document perceived health risks related to the ecological ceiling and social foundation, highlighting the importance of participation and citizen engagement (Ssemugabo et al., 2021).

One study investigates the progress towards safe and just operating spaces at the village level by employing a three-dimensional justice, rather than a basic needs perspective (Pasgaard & Dawson, 2019). The authors conclude that what is considered safe and just is highly contextdependent and that universal basic needs may poorly reflect local concerns of injustice (Pasgaard & Dawson, 2019). There are trade-offs between the ecological ceiling and social foundation that should not be ignored. The aggregated use of indicators in simplified graphics for science-policy communication is a means of discursive power that condenses complex issues and the authors argue for an approach that allows for complexity to unfold instead (Pasgaard & Dawson, 2019). One paper investigates the transformative potential of resilience thinking by illustrating how it disrupts neoclassical economic rationalities and promotes alternative economic rationalities, such as the doughnut (Olsson, 2020). It looks at narratives of practice in municipal resilience thinking and identifies four tension points; 1) 'growth disruptive resilience thinking vs the neoliberal growth discourse', 2) 'regenerative by design vs neoliberal environmental rationalities', 3) 'distributive by design vs neoclassical distributive rationalities', and 4) 'socially adaptable vs self-interested drivers of resilient behaviour'. The author concludes that these tension points, despite having disruptive potential, are not likely to challenge the core of neoclassical economic rationalities, especially in more affluent countries (Olsson, 2020).

Other studies look at specific cases where the doughnut has been applied. One paper investigates how the doughnut engages with growth and urbanisation, as well as perceptions of the model in the municipality of Tomelilla, Sweden (Eriksson, 2022). This paper concludes that the doughnut offers a useful visualisation that promotes holistic thinking about sustainability, the importance of circularity, and the use of green technologies but that there's no perceived contradiction between economic growth and urban development while staying within the doughnut; in this way, the doughnut does not address the underlying rationale of

neoclassical economics (Eriksson, 2022). Another study engages with the use of the doughnut in Amsterdam using an actor coalition framework to reveal how coalitions of actors are working with the doughnut, revealing the strengths of collaborative governance when coalitions can align beliefs, enhance learning, and bring forward policy changes (Moretti, 2022). The authors of one paper draw on their experience with downscaling the doughnut in Cornwall and relate it to the wider literature on local sustainability governance (Turner & Wills, 2022). They identify three challenges related to the use of doughnut economics in local governance: 1) Representing, understanding and responding to complex systems, 2) goal coherence across scales, and 3) navigating power dynamics, inequalities and trade-offs. There are significant barriers to assessing the doughnut at the local scale, requiring consideration for data appropriate downscaling methodologies, normative choices, availability, responsibility, and the context-specific nature of human needs (Turner & Wills, 2022). The authors conclude that adaptive and reflexive governance is required to break institutional path dependencies and that participation can ensure the continuity of the approach. The doughnut stimulates debates, but local institutions do not have the capacity to engage with complex cross-scale system science, hence transdisciplinary research efforts may be the way forward (Turner & Wills, 2022).

Assessment

Thirteen of the reviewed papers relate to assessing the doughnut at the local scale. These papers assess the doughnut in a variety of ways; by seeking to establish absolute sustainability targets for cities, by developing multi-scale approaches to the safe and just operating space, assessing specific doughnut dimensions, or assessing differences in overshoot and shortfall of the doughnut along the urban-rural gradient.

Several papers seek to assess the absolute sustainability of urban systems. One paper proposes a life-cycle-based method for the absolute environmental sustainability assessment of anthropogenic systems, concluding that the results are influenced by the choice of indicators, sharing principles, and spatial resolution (Bjorn et al., 2020). Another study investigating the absolute sustainability of urban systems looks at how absolute sustainability indicators and consumption-based accounting are used in urban sustainability assessment. The paper concludes that urban sustainability assessments could benefit from being benchmarked against planetary boundaries to say something about absolute sustainability because it provides insights into rebound effects and leakage (Goodwin et al., 2021). One study assessing different allocation principles for downscaling the planetary boundaries to different sectors develops a framework for downscaling planetary boundaries to individual stakeholders so they can be upscaled to the desired level of organisation. Different allocation and upscaling methods lead to different outcomes and require uncertainty and sensitivity

analysis before they are applied to real systems. The authors conclude that the proposed method is a transparent and robust way to assess sustainability ratios that can inform prioritisation in policy-making (Hjalsted et al., 2021). One paper calls into question the relevance of planetary boundaries for absolute sustainability assessment across scales and argues the techno-ecological synergy framework is more applicable (Xue & Bakshi, 2022). This is because planetary boundary-based absolute environmental sustainability assessment divides ecosystem functions to everyone equally, regardless of place, while the techno-ecological synergy approach is based on mismatches between ecosystem service supply and demand, which is more locally relevant (Xue & Bakshi, 2022).

A study investigating multiscale orientation values (planetary boundary targets across scales) for some of the planetary boundaries uses a bottom-up assessment method to identify the environmental impacts of local governments, providing information on the scale of household consumption. Translating the planetary boundaries to sub-global scales requires that the control variables for the boundaries are converted into global budgets (annual or over time) and global budgets are allocated using an appropriate sharing approach. Different allocation approaches have different effects on the assigned budgets, making it difficult to define orientation values across scales (Froemelt et al., 2021). A paper specifically focusing on the freshwater planetary boundary develops the water exceedance and consumption footprint to respectively measure overconsumption and surplus (Li et al., 2020). The authors show how interregional water trade can be used to meet shortages in one place with the surpluses of another, though these calculations should consider future climate changes (Li et al., 2020). In a paper seeking to contribute to the smarter ecological management of urban systems, the authors propose an alternative ecological boundary based on the gap between the ecological carrying capacity and total ecosystem services extracted from that ecosystem, applied in Beijing (Wang et al., 2022). The authors conclude the ecological boundary can serve as an early warning system for decision-makers as prolonged periods of overconsumption of ecosystem services reduce overall resilience (Wang et al., 2022). In a study synthesising current approaches to assessing urban sustainability, the authors conclude that footprint indicators and consumption-based accounting methods are useful in assessing the localglobal integration of urban sustainability because it considers the embodied impacts of traded goods and services (Wiedmann & Allen, 2021). One paper proposes to assess the safe and just operating space of the mobility sector using a sustainable consumption corridor and composes a set of indicators for this purpose. These authors conclude that downscaling planetary boundaries to the urban infrastructure scale is morally and mathematically challenging and were not able to select thresholds for the selected indicators (Dillman et al., 2021).

One paper uses a modified doughnut to assess the concept of sustainability at the urban and regional scale by investigating how impacts on the doughnut dimensions differ along the urban-rural gradient, concluding that this provides the potential to reduce a region's impact on the doughnut through enhanced regional sustainability planning (Chapman et al., 2021). The relevance of computer science, specifically artificial intelligence, is investigated in assessing the safe and just operating space at a municipal level and found to provide relevant decision-support for urban planning, though it also highlights the relevance of good data availability (Dahl & Moreno-Navarro, 2022).

In investigating the local operationalisation of the safe operating space, it was found that there are no consistent ways for downscaling planetary boundaries and that despite challenges in addressing how planetary boundaries interact, this is crucial (Ferretto et al., 2022). The paper proposes a method for setting boundaries at the ecosystem level and relating these to the relevant administrative scale so that the information can inform decisions while the global relevance of the planetary boundary framework is maintained (Ferretto et al., 2022).

Case studies

In this section I describe how the doughnut is locally applied in practice, building on the experiences shared by interviewees and possibly additional documents and web pages. I describe how the doughnut is applied in Amsterdam, Bad Nauheim, Barcelona, Cornwall, Dunedin, Nanaimo, and Tomelilla looking at what motivated the place, in what context the doughnut was applied, how the use of the doughnut was initiated, how the doughnut is applied, and what challenges the place encountered.

Amsterdam

The city was motivated to work with the doughnut because as an evaluation framework, it is said to provide a 'holistic snapshot' of the city (Thriving Cities Initiative, 2020b). The Amsterdam city doughnut was developed in collaboration with the Thriving Cities Initiative and applied through collaboration with a wide range of city staff. The city developed a version of the city portrait that reflects Amsterdam's targets (if available) and a current snapshot of where they stand in the local-social, local-ecological, global-social, and global-ecological lenses. Amsterdam considers the city portrait relevant for policy development as it can assist in highlighting trade-offs and synergies between alternative policies at the outset. Amsterdam is applying the doughnut as an evaluation framework for its circularity strategy (Amsterdam Circular, 2020). The circularity strategy and doughnut model have been adopted as official policies in Amsterdam.

The city of Amsterdam has the political ambition to be 100% circular by 2050 (Amsterdam Circular, 2020) and Amsterdam aims to achieve circularity in the value chains of the built environment, organic waste, and consumer goods. For each value chain, Amsterdam has outlined several ambitions. Regarding organic waste, Amsterdam aims to shorten value chains and stimulate local food production, create more healthy and sustainable diets by focussing on plant-based protein and reducing waste, and improve the processing of organic waste by focussing on waste separation and specialised collection of organic waste to work on closing nutrient cycles (strategy public version). In terms of consumer goods, the city aims to reduce consumption by focussing on access to use and stimulating circular product development, by promoting sustainable use of products by improving their quality and access to repair services, and by focussing on giving a new life to discarded products by collaborating with the business sector to make value from waste (strategy public version). The built environment is to become circular by focussing on collaboration in urban development using new guidelines to reduce the impacts of materials used in construction, by the city upholding circular guidelines for its own development and procurement, and by making the existing urban fabric more circular when committing to renovations. As part of this circular strategy, Amsterdam has developed a circularity monitor; a dashboard for mapping resource flows that move through the city. The 'snapshot' provided by the doughnut, showing impacts both within and outside of the city, was used as a basis for the circularity monitor, using an input-output analysis (City of Amsterdam, 2020). The circularity monitor is set up to provide an overview of the socio-ecological impacts associated with the life cycles of products and services flowing through Amsterdam, providing decision-support about priorities in moving towards a circular economy.

The doughnut is considered highly relevant for stimulating cross-departmental working within the municipality, as well as for communicating with external stakeholders. Currently, doughnut thinking and the circularity strategy are being applied through multiple projects/processes in different departments and in collaboration with different partners.

Amsterdam sees its role as setting the right example regarding circularity through its own practices, as well as creating legislation and stimulating innovation, and collaborating with key stakeholders in the identified value chains. The city considers itself a partner in the upcoming transitions and states that being open to new kinds of collaboration is crucial. The city is supported by European and national circularity ambitions. The city has both a top-down and bottom-up approach to becoming circular; the municipality outlines where to go and how to get there, while there's also room to scale up bottom-up initiatives.

The application of the doughnut is also supported by the Amsterdam Doughnut Coalition, a network of more than 40 organisations that aims to bring doughnut thinking into practice (Amsterdam Doughnut Coalition, n.d.). The doughnut is also being applied in a bottom-up way through "Doughnut Deals"; local initiatives that combine one ecological aspect with multiple social goals to implement community-based sustainability interventions in collaboration with other partners from the neighbourhood (Amsterdam Doughnut Coalition, 2020).

The private sector is involved in Amsterdam's circularity strategy, especially in the mapping of specific resource and energy flows for the circularity monitor. Ultimately, different sectors, e.g., the textile industry, need to map out their value chains and where they can have an impact on these. Generally, Amsterdam tries to collaborate with other parties such as consultants or other scales of government who can support the transition towards a circular economy.

The city considers that working with the doughnut requires a paradigm shift where the city sees itself as a partner, rather than a manager of the circular transition. It requires urban administrators to find new ways of approaching both cross-departmental collaborations as well as with external partners. Though the doughnut stimulates cross-departmental collaboration, departments may still pursue projects and programmes that conflict with the doughnut. Applying the doughnut highlights existing trade-offs, such as how to address extreme housing

demand in an environmentally sound and socially just way, but does not guide how to manage these trade-offs.

The assessment of the doughnut as the circularity monitor is considered challenging. It requires intensive collaboration between the public and private sectors to provide data for the circularity monitor, while the quantification of resource flows and associated socio-ecological impacts remains challenging. It is considered especially difficult to assess the social dimension of the doughnut and the city is experiencing issues with data availability that limit the accuracy of the assessment.

Bad Nauheim

The city of Bad Nauheim was motivated by the holistic understanding of sustainability the doughnut offered, providing a shared conceptual understanding of what sustainability means. The doughnut is being adopted in the context of developing a wider sustainability strategy for the city and is helping in formulating visions of what a sustainable future might look like. The use of the doughnut was initiated by an advisor on sustainability and consequently adopted by the city council. In the case of Bad Nauheim, this advisor was a champion for the use of doughnut economics.

A group of citizens from Bad Nauheim was already advocating to become part of the German "engaged cities" network, which maps civil society actors and initiatives according to the SDGs, and recently achieved this in collaboration with the city. Now this collaboration is also used in applying the doughnut, as the doughnut builds on the SDGs it's an easy match.

The city has been applying the doughnut by working on different projects in parallel. Firstly, they aim to develop a sustainability management tool for the city administration and daughter companies (service providers). This tool ought to help the different city departments and service providers to understand the cross-impacts of their decisions on different dimensions of the doughnut. In this process, the doughnut was adapted to the local context in a co-creative process of senior management of the city and the daughter companies; selecting ecological boundaries for the Bad Nauheim context and adapting the terminology of the social foundation.

The city is also applying the doughnut by incorporating it in a wider sustainability strategy, for which they have held an extensive participation process to get citizens' input on the prioritisation of the doughnut. Bad Nauheim operationalised its participation process by inviting 100 randomly selected citizens to draft 21 initial doughnut measures. These 21 measures were taken out into a wider participation process with an online tool to gather feedback from citizens and interest groups from Bad Nauheim. Currently, the city is analysing the feedback they have gathered with the online tool which will be used to further polish the initial measures,

to finally be presented to the city parliament. These final measures will be part of the sustainability strategy, but the overall strategy will go beyond those measures.

The city is in the process of assessing the doughnut quantitatively and follows Amsterdam's methodology in doing so. The doughnut assessment is also something the city aims to incorporate into its sustainability strategy. The city is adapting the doughnut to make it more coherent with the local context and to ensure they only include things they have an influence over.

Bad Nauheim is exploring how to provide continuation to this participation process by looking at possibilities to provide a platform for continuous exchange among interest groups. The extensive participation process in Bad Nauheim is also oriented towards the fact that achieving the transition of the city into the doughnut cannot be done by the city alone and requires the collaboration between multiple public, private and civil actors. The 'engaged cities' network can be involved in implementing the doughnut by creating partnerships among actors that can help to work on the measures established in the participation process.

The doughnut assessment is considered a challenging exercise; using one indicator for a given dimension means you need to select one that will properly reflect this dimension, however, it also needs to be feasible to measure and monitor a given indicator over time. Working with a larger set of indicators than just GDP to assess progress allows for a broader consideration, but it also makes the implementation of projects more complex. One of the challenges is defining what boundary of complexity can be justified when using the doughnut while also keeping it useful in everyday planning and decision-making.

Barcelona

The doughnut provides Barcelona with a shared definition of sustainability that is operational across departments, helping in achieving greater institutional synergies in working towards set objectives. The doughnut was adopted on the political level after declaring a climate change emergency in January 2020 (City of Barcelona, n.d.-b) and is being operationalised by the climate change and sustainability office. By announcing a climate emergency declaration, Barcelona has increased the urgency behind climate change adaptation and mitigation objectives and the doughnut is considered to be a response to this. The purpose for Barcelona to work with the doughnut is twofold; first, it serves the city's commitment to enhance ambitions to address the climate change emergency and they aimed to develop an economic strategy to reflect these ambitions. Secondly, it was useful as an inspiration for the "Citizens Commitment to Sustainability" (City of Barcelona, n.d.-a). The "Citizens Commitment to Sustainability" was first adopted in 2002 and serves as a guidance document for the cities' business and citizens' initiatives to work towards sustainability, being updated every ten years.

During the latest renewal period (2022) it was opted to use the doughnut in the renewal of the commitment as it offered a holistic framework for addressing local sustainability challenges.

The city has worked on developing a city portrait. This took a considerable amount of time because the resources provided by DEAL are place-based and hence, need to be adapted to the local context. The city did two workshops about the city portrait; one with experts to validate the selected indicators, and one on the 'four lenses' and how to operationalise these.

In parallel, the city worked with the network associated with the Citizen Commitment to Sustainability on using the doughnut for the renewal of the commitment, as well as on making a community portrait. In doing so, the city could compare the outcome of the community portrait with the city portrait.

Barcelona has also engaged in what they call a 'transition cycle', during which they organised three open conferences to spark the doughnut debate among its citizens. The three presentations were about the doughnut economy, the importance of planetary health, and a culture of limits. After these conferences, the speakers were invited for a discussion with the network of the citizens' commitment to sustainability to discuss how to downscale these topics to Barcelona's context.

The city has also discussed the outcomes of the city portrait with the network of the citizens' commitment to sustainability, to assess priority areas and how different business and citizen initiatives can get involved

The city aimed to use the doughnut in an updated economic strategy, but due to the start of an election phase, this process had to be halted. Looking towards the future, the city also foresees issues with including the traditional economic sector in the sustainability transition, as they have a vested interest in the current economic system and might not see how they will benefit from the doughnut.

Cornwall

Cornwall was motivated by the doughnut because it offered an opportunity to integrate its social and environmental sustainability assessment of decisions. This was in relation to their climate emergency declaration from 2019. Initially, they developed a climate change decision wheel, a decision-support tool, that asked decision-makers to consider the impacts of their plans on the environment. In efforts to further integrate both environmental and social sustainability impacts, Cornwall has established an updated version of the wheel that also considers the social dimension. Moreover, an assessment of the doughnut is part of the Cornwall Plan 2020-2050 (Cornwall and Isles of Scilly Leadership Board, 2020). The development of the initial climate change wheel happened after the political decision to declare

a climate change emergency and was established as a means to consider the climate impacts of the decisions made in the Cornwall council. The Carbon Neutral Cornwall Team was responsible for the initial climate change decision wheel. The updated wheel is managed by the team that is responsible for its adoption across the organisation.

The city has updated its initial climate change decision wheel in an agile way to make it a one-stop place for decision-makers to report on the impacts of their plans. With the help of a good in-house IT team, Cornwall has developed a decision-support tool, called the Cornwall Development and Decision Wheel, that can be used for ex-ante assessment of how projects/programmes/plans will impact multiple dimensions of sustainability. The decision-support tool includes both the socio-environmental wheel (the doughnut) and the equality and inclusion wheel. The socio-environmental wheel will show decision-makers the anticipated impacts of their plan on the different dimensions of the local doughnut, auto-generating impacts based on underlying models made for the local context. The equality and inclusion wheel considers the number of people impacted by decisions, how these impacts are different, and how they can be mitigated, though these impacts are not auto-generated. The aim is for the development and decision wheel to be used as an ex-ante impact assessment to inform decision-makers of potentially unexpected impacts before they occur.

In collaboration with the University of Exeter, the council has assessed their safe and just operating space based on a locally adapted version of the doughnut. The local doughnut is part of the Cornwall Plan 2020-2050, focussing on the future development of a "cleaner, greener" and "fairer, more inclusive" Cornwall. The council aimed to share their plans regarding the doughnut with local stakeholders such as business and civic groups from the start. The plan identifies key partners in achieving the outlined transition (Cornwall and Isles of Scilly Leadership Board, 2020). These include the local enterprise partnership, local nature partnership, the council itself, and the joint health and well-being board. The plan is annually reviewed to assess if the council is moving in the right direction regarding the targets it set itself and they are exploring opportunities to link the development and decision wheel to its annual doughnut review.

Aggregating the impacts of different decisions made in the council is considered challenging; different projects and programmes can have very different scales (financially, spatially etc.) raising questions about how to assess the overall impact. There is the additional challenge of trying to relate the total impacts of the councils' decisions to the overall Cornwall doughnut assessment and putting the impacts of local operations in a global context.

The wheel developed in Cornwall is meant to be used as ex-ante decision-support, but severe negative impacts of a decision do not mean they will definitively be stopped. Development is

considered necessary in the context of Cornwall and some current development trajectories are in strong conflict with environmental goals, such as the spaceport. The decision wheel will highlight these trade-offs and previous decisions have been paused to reassess how to mitigate negative impacts, but whether or not to proceed is ultimately a political decision. Finding appropriate offsetting techniques for development paths with high environmental impacts is considered challenging.

The wheel has been developed in an agile way, and though amendments are still being made, the team is happy with their current version. However, there is recognition that the wheel will require regular updates for it to remain relevant. Managing the wheel in an agile way requires collaboration and hence capacity and the team responsible for this is in the process of establishing how regular updates need to be for the wheel to remain relevant for decision-makers.

Dunedin

The Dunedin City Council was motivated to explore the doughnut because it offers a holistic definition of sustainability, including other frameworks such as the SDGs. The framework is considered appealing because you can adapt it to the local context, making it truly representative of your city. In particular, the city portrait also provides an opportunity to monitor and track changes over time. The doughnut was explored after the council committed to updating its strategic documents and explored different frameworks to renew the strategic commitment to sustainability. There were strong advocates for the doughnut within the city leadership, which likely motivated the choice to explore it. The political decision was made to explore the use of the city doughnut as a framework for renewing the strategic commitment to sustainability, but the strategy is yet to be officially adopted. The exploration of the doughnut has been done by the policy department, which has a strategic focus in the context of Dunedin.

The city has started exploring the city portrait as a means to renew its commitment to sustainability. Dunedin has not formally adopted the doughnut yet but has been in the process of exploring how it could be applied. In this process, there has been a lot of internal outreach to identify key departments that will impact the doughnut, aiming to create buy-in for the approach from the different departments that will have to adopt it. The city is collaborating with the Planetary Accounting Network to assess the ecological ceiling and what is still needed to improve its understanding of it. As a next step, the city is going into the community engagement phase to reach out to its citizens. They aim to organise several smaller workshops throughout the city, rather than one central conference, so that they can engage with diverse communities. The city is working on making a local adaptation of the doughnut for Dunedin, building on the resources provided by DEAL. Dunedin has engaged with other cities working with the doughnut. In their engagement phase, they consider the local

indigenous people, the two tertiary institutions, business groups, and place-based groups as key stakeholders to involve.

The city is experimenting with how to align the doughnut with other related requirements, such as the legislative requirement for local government to promote communities' social, economic, environmental, and cultural well-being (Department of Internal Affairs, 2002). This is a challenge because it might make the amount of information overwhelming when communicating about it.

The city is in an exploration phase but foresees some challenges in working with the doughnut. It is a visually appealing tool to communicate sustainability, but actually adopting it will require high levels of integration between departments and different scales of government. Moreover, there is no clear-cut way of how to adopt the doughnut and there's a range of considerations on how to best adopt it which might lead to both internal and external tensions.

Nanaimo

Nanaimo was motivated to adopt the doughnut because it offered a holistic approach to sustainability. The doughnut was considered appealing because it offered a chance to integrate several different plans. By applying the doughnut to the long-range plan the city aimed to include the social, environmental, economic and cultural aspects of sustainability in one big document. The use of the doughnut was initiated because it was an explicit request of the city council. There were strong champions for the doughnut in the city council and it was a political decision for it to be included in the development of the long-range plan. Nanaimo was already seeking to enhance the integration of goals across departments and the doughnut was a fitting way to support this aim in the update of their official community plan (City of Nanaimo, 2022). The application of the doughnut is managed by the department of community development, but the doughnut should ultimately be embedded across departments.

Nanaimo has integrated the doughnut into its official community plan (community plan). They started the process by exploring what areas of the doughnut they actually have an impact on, considering their mandate. This allowed Nanaimo to come up with a customised version of the doughnut which formed the basis for the goals in their community plan. Applying the doughnut in Nanaimo was done in collaboration between different departments within the government, as well as other stakeholders such as the business sector, civil groups, and representatives of the indigenous population. These groups have been involved in setting up the community plan. Collaboration between departments is perceived as essential in applying the doughnut in the context of Nanaimo. In the process of formulating the community plan, the city identified lead departments for different projects, but also what other departments ought

to be involved. integration between departments, in the form of close coordination and collaboration or urban planning projects, is perceived as crucial in achieving better outcomes.

Based on this plan the city is currently developing an action plan to further implementation, as well as a monitoring strategy in which they develop targets and indicators to measure and monitor progress. The process of selecting targets and indicators already started during the formulation of the community plan but was postponed when the city realised that the final version of the plan would require them to revise the selection. As part of this, the city did map out what measurements are currently in place and how relevant they are or if they need to be replaced/complemented. The same stakeholders that were involved in the community plan will be consulted again for the action plan and the revision of targets and indicators.

One challenge identified in Nanaimo is the level of institutional integration that the doughnut requires. This requires an organisational paradigm shift where collaboration and coordination become the norm, although it might increase the time taken to complete projects. Building the culture of working in integrated ways is considered challenging to build and maintain (the previous aim is for things to be efficient). The doughnut is considered to support the process of integrated working, but there is recognition that this can also be achieved with alternative frameworks.

Another challenge for the city is selecting targets and indicators for their monitoring tool, especially for the social dimension it is difficult to select indicators that accurately reflect the dimension. Selecting targets and indicators in the face of future uncertainty is a challenge. There is recognition of interactions between the planetary boundaries of the ecological ceiling and questions about how to select targets e.g. freshwater withdrawal in the face of climate change

Tomelilla

Tomelilla was motivated to work with the doughnut because it offered a more holistic definition of sustainability, also including the social dimension. The doughnut is applied as an evaluation framework for the quality of life programme (Municipality of Tomelilla, n.d.), which governs how the municipality deals with the goals of Agenda 2030. The doughnut has been adopted on the administrative level to provide different departments with a shared definition of sustainability when working on the quality of life programme. The application of the doughnut is managed by the department of growth and development.

Tomelilla started the process by assessing how the doughnut could be best of use to them in collaboration with a research institute. The key potential of the doughnut identified for Tomelilla was communicating the meaning of sustainability, both internally and externally. Since, they have been taking an experimental approach to applying the doughnut, trying different

pathways of applying it. They have started the process of developing a city portrait but this is still underway. The city is following the same approach as Amsterdam; mapping out targets and indicators that are already being used across the organisation and assessing whether or not these are effective for measuring the urban safe and just operating space. Another important focus area has been citizen engagement and participation in creating a shared vision for the future of the city. Ultimately, Tomelilla aims to use the doughnut to provide an overview of different sustainability areas the municipality is working on and to use it as a tool in their communication with citizens to show how they can get involved with these areas. The city also wants to use the doughnut for urban planning projects specifically, to reimagine the future of the built environment and use it as guidance in their comprehensive plans. The doughnut is considered useful in comprehensive planning because it supports ex-ante consideration of trade-offs and associated conflicts that might arise in proposed projects, for example, managing urban encroachment on agricultural land.

One challenge for the city is how to apply the doughnut to specific urban planning projects, as it does not provide direct decision-support in terms of what kinds of construction materials or building techniques should be used. Moreover, it is considered difficult to assess the impacts of projects at the building scale on the doughnut.

Another challenge is that working on the doughnut assessment is very labour-intensive and requires sufficient capacity and funding. Assessing the doughnut is further complicated by the mismatch between the scale of impact and the scale of the mandate of the municipality. For example, assessing consumption impacts in the municipality is a challenging task, while the city has little influence over the actual consumption behaviour of its citizens.

Integrating the doughnut in urban institutions

Holistic Thinking About Sustainability

Interviewees state that the doughnut offers a more holistic definition of sustainability, considering a diversity of both ecological and social considerations and how they are interrelated. This holistic definition is perceived to allow planners with thinking about trade-offs and synergies before implementing their plans and assist them in identifying what other municipal departments or external partners should be involved. Public perception regarding the urgency of sustainability is perceived as a factor that drives doughnut applications, reflected by one interviewee who states: "I think public opinion is a big factor. I think the public are concerned about climate change and environmental degradation, and I mean you see this; the climate strikes and protests (...) So, I think that there's a lot more support for environmentalism, and also looking after each other". Interviewees perceive the doughnut as useful for providing a shared definition of sustainability and for imagining what sustainable futures of a place might look like, as stated by one interviewee: "(...)one issue is that sustainability is such a broad concept, and it can mean a lot of different things. So, we wanted to find a model and a more common framework of how to talk about sustainability here." Staying within a safe and just operating space is considered an ambitious goal and interviewees consider that adopting this requires the organisation to change. One interviewee considers the doughnut to be the latest evolution in a line of sustainability models and multiple interviewees consider it a strength that it builds on the SDGs is considered a strength, though it can also be a challenge to combine the doughnut with other sustainability frameworks. Most interviewees state they consider the doughnut useful because it addresses the interrelated nature of socio-ecological sustainability challenges and helps them identify integrated ways of addressing these by working on coherent goals across the organisation. One interviewee stresses that finding integrated ways of addressing sustainability challenges is crucial and that this can be done with or without the doughnut, stating: "The reason why we have the need for the doughnut is because we have systems and forces in place that result in power that destroys the environment and social structures, and where some people have a lot more and some people have a lot less". Multiple interviewees consider that a holistic understanding of sustainability and integrated ways of working require a paradigmatic shift. They state this requires the continued willingness to collaborate and coordinate between departments and with external stakeholders in bringing about sustainability transformations, and this culture is considered challenging to establish and maintain. Other interviewees also consider that the interrelations between the different dimensions of the doughnut complicate the implementation of plans and projects. Interviewees state that the doughnut helps with thinking about the impacts of decisions in advance, which helps with identifying alternative pathways that

minimise negative impacts, and consider it crucial that the doughnut is used at the early stages of decision-making.

Governance Structures

Governance is perceived as an important theme in cities working with the doughnut. Interviewees state that working with the doughnut is useful for communicating a holistic definition of sustainability, both internally and externally, as seen in the statement of one interviewee: "This is an opportunity to facilitate good conversations with your community and your colleagues". Interviewees consider the importance of identifying key internal and external partners to collaborate with, both in assessing and implementing the doughnut and collaborations with non-government stakeholders are perceived as key to local sustainability. interviewees consider the doughnut to be beneficial for internal communication because it helps break through government silos by clearly articulating sustainability goals. One interviewee stresses that working with the doughnut requires high levels of integration between government departments and that organisational cultures need to change for this to be successful. Interviewees consider the doughnut relevant for external communication because the city can clearly show its citizens how they are engaging with sustainability and how communities can get involved. Interviewees express that the doughnut provides opportunities to identify important external partners and pool synergies in achieving local sustainability transitions. Participation is considered important for cities applying the doughnut and interviewees express the need to involve diverse people. Several interviewees state they collaborate with existing networks working on sustainability, and these networks, along with other civil and private groups, are perceived to be important partners in implementing plans and strategies. Several interviewees express the doughnut addresses a wide range of concerns and the model is considered easy to understand. Interviewees state that local doughnut applications might change the status quo of local governance and that it is important to minimise resistance by communicating transparently and highlighting the benefits. However, several interviewees state local governments have limited capacity to do outreach about their doughnut activities and experience a trade-off between creating internal and external buy-in for the use of the doughnut, reflected in the following statement: "this is one of the things that a very small team does, and so we just haven't been able to kind of do that engagement with [the] communities as much as we would like, but that's something that we are seeking to do". A few interviewees mention that because the different dimensions of the doughnut are interconnected, adopting it can make the communication of plans and strategies more complicated, reflected by an interviewee that states: "for example, the energy is within the social sphere, but it's also (...) lots of what we do in the energy area is connected to climate change. So where do we put that?"

Influence, Capacity, and Funding

Interviewees expressed capacity is an important constraint for local governments that are applying the doughnut, as the associated work is time-consuming and requires funding to be available, as stated by one interviewee: "I mean, then most of it is about funding. It's about having enough people who can work with this". One interviewee states that having secure funding addresses capacity issues because doughnut applications become standardised in the organisation, and the department working with the doughnut has a reliable budget to pursue their activities, reflected in the statement: "Now it's kind of become business as usual, so we don't have that funding issue anymore". Interviewees consider that mapping out what indicators and targets are in place is a demanding job. Interviewees also consider it important to assess how the doughnut ties in with existing goals because local governments only have limited capacity to address these. Interviewees consider it challenging to apply the doughnut in a way that aligns with existing strategies and plans because of the coordination required. Measuring and monitoring how cities perform in relation to their goals is perceived as a continuous challenge because of limited capacity at this scale. Because of capacity constraints and limited influence, interviewees consider it important to identify priority areas within your mandate and invest efforts in improving these, reflected in the statement: "Where do you have control and influence and where is the biggest impact you could have on the different elements that the doughnut is trying to achieve?". Several interviewees consider the global lenses of the doughnut to be challenging as they have very limited capacity to influence local consumption other than through their own procurement policies and educational programmes. Due to capacity issues, interviewees also perceive a trade-off between measuring and assessing performance versus practically implementing initiatives to improve their performance regarding sustainability. One interviewee states they have limited capacity to assess the doughnut considering the time invested in setting up participatory processes. There is some consideration that GDP is an easy figure to monitor and that measuring performance more broadly also increases the complexity of local government operations, this is reflected in: "Where is your boundary of complexity that you can justify using, and where do you have to say OK, increasing the complexity will not help us get where we want to go". Selecting indicators and coordinating between departments is considered an interesting exercise, but the time investment required is a limiting factor in doughnut applications. One interviewee states that the doughnut does not apply to everything they do in the local government because certain procedures are mandated by other government scales. Interviewees express that how the doughnut is applied also depends on how the local government is influenced by the mandates of other government scales, and that they may lack influence in key areas that would improve sustainable outcomes.

Conflict, Trade-offs and Synergies

Interviewees perceive the doughnut as helpful in thinking about conflicts and trade-offs associated with urban development in advance, helping with identifying alternative pathways or offsetting options. Interviewees perceive the application of the doughnut to be useful for identifying trade-offs and synergies between existing city goals: "I mean we go towards the same objectives, but maybe we are not aware of what they are working on in other departments and maybe sometimes there could be some inconsistencies or contradictions. So, this holistic approach was very rich". Two interviewees explicitly refer to the conflict between urban growth and encroachment on surrounding ecosystems, stating: "So then, (...) that's a conflict; we need to provide housing for inhabitants, but at the same time we need to protect our agricultural land". In this context, another interviewee mentions the need to coordinate regional growth strategies with surrounding local governments and with the region as a whole, demanding intergovernmental coordination. Several interviewees refer to the importance of housing, some in the context of severe shortages, and consider development crucial to meet the housing needs of residents, pointing to densification as a way to do this while minimising negative environmental impacts and urban-rural conflicts. Interviewees perceive trade-offs between the social and ecological domains and state these should be managed based on political priorities because the doughnut does not offer specific decisionsupport for managing trade-offs. Interviewees perceive a need for urban development, especially in some cases of housing shortages or deprivation, and it is considered difficult to balance this with ecological goals because offsetting large development projects is challenging. Working in more integrated ways between government departments is perceived to enhance synergies in the urban development process, though it can also cause conflicts between departments because of the compromises required to collaborate. This interviewee states: "And so it requires a real culture shift of wanting to work across departments, and staff learning each of their roles and not sitting in one box". Interviewees consider the pooling of knowledge, resources, and expertise in urban development leads to improved outcomes that can be achieved in more efficient ways. One interviewee states that the doughnut also reinforces the drive to look for integrated ways of addressing socio-ecological challenges, such as using green infrastructure in development. Interviewees point out that people still commonly perceive a conflict between environmental and economic sustainability, especially in more classical economic sectors. Several interviewees express there is a trade-off between gathering information and assessing the doughnut versus practically working on implementing projects related to it. in this context, interviewees are critical of the purpose of assessment, reflected in: "but then it kind of feels like again, maybe not as narrow as the GDP question, but am I collecting data for the sake of collecting data, or am I collecting data for using it to actually get somewhere?".

Champions and Political Uncertainty

All interviewees state it is important to have champions for the doughnut in top-level government positions who can advocate for its use, provide information on how to do that, allocate resources, and enforce its use across the organisation, reflected in the statement: "I think that's very important because you need resources, you need the commitment to be able to have the impact on the decision-makers to actually make a change". interviewees experience that relying on champions creates problems with political uncertainty due to election turnover and having to re-create internal buy-in when champions disappear, reflected by an interviewee stating: "so the previous champions were no longer around, so we had to, you know, help the new administration kind of own it, and see, and understand it". The political uncertainty created by elections is perceived to be a limiting factor in applying the doughnut as the doughnut does not reflect the progress you made during your political mandate, as reflected by an interviewee who states: "the political difficulty for me is to see that the city portrait is something that is not your evaluation of the four-year electoral period, it's a longer one". Some interviewees perceive the doughnut as something that can be used across the political spectrum, though others state there is potential for the doughnut to spark political opposition from those with neoliberal/growth or fringe ideologies. Interviewees state that cities working in coalition governments need to align their political vision on how the doughnut will be applied in that context.

Application

The cases in this study show that cities are applying the doughnut in diverse ways, though all cases use the DEAL methodology. All interviewees are motivated to work with the doughnut because it allows them to communicate a holistic and ambitious definition of sustainability. Commonalities are that it is considered important to identify priority areas within the mandate of the local government and map out what information is currently available on this. Few interviewees working with the doughnut communicate with each other and many consider learning from best practices to be important in improving the application. Interviewees perceive the doughnut as relevant for the strategic level of planning because it stimulates thinking about trade-offs and synergies in advance, helping to identify conflicts of interest and important partners for implementing plans. The doughnut is currently considered less relevant for applications at finer urban planning scales, with one interviewee stating: "I think on a general level it could be very useful, in kind of setting the vision and intention for the city and the development path. And then, I found that when you go into more detail about how exactly are we going to do this, then it's not as helpful". The doughnut can be modified to provide specific decision support, but this requires sufficient capacity. Interviewees consider that using the doughnut as an explicit decision-support tool or a monitoring and evaluation tool, as well as

how that information is used for local planning and decision-making, is a political decision. The renewal of strategies and plans is an important aspect of applying the doughnut in local governments as most interviewees stated they started working with the doughnut after they committed to updating their strategies or plans. The doughnut is used as an evaluation framework for sustainability strategies or as the basis to formulate goals for planning documents. Interviewees express that a challenge with applying the doughnut in strategies and plans is that it may also require the revision of previous strategies and plans to make them coherent with the doughnut. Interviewees working with the doughnut tend to follow an experimental approach and institutional learning from feedback is seen as an important part of improving the approach over time. Internal and external partnerships are seen as crucial in implementing goals related to the doughnut, reflected by an interviewee stating: "So what I would say to any city is; are you ready to consider how you may need to change your system and way of working". Interviewees anticipate the uptake of doughnut economics to increase, especially because of public concern about environmental issues. In this context, one interviewee mentions the importance of best practices and the need to demonstrate that the urban doughnut approach works. Some interviewees consider that the data portrait of a place might consider different priorities than those held by residents and state that it is important to provide their citizens with information about how the doughnut is applied, reflected in the statement: "we need to talk to people who have never heard of a doughnut economic theory before and just to get their input so that it is really for the city rather than done to the city".

Assessment and Data

In terms of assessment, interviewees consider it important to first adapt the doughnut to the local context and map out what is currently being measured and monitored, and what goals and targets are already in place. Interviewees consider assessing the doughnut is resource intensive and several refer to the social foundation and/or the global lenses as being specifically difficult to assess, with one interviewee stating: "we are really, really strong on local-social and local-ecological, and we're... like there's some stuff on global ecological, but not a lot on global social". Interviewees rely on databases from different scales and many express that local data availability and quality are poor, especially trying to assess impacts in advance requires using best estimates. Interviewees consider it difficult to select single indicators that accurately reflect a given dimension of the doughnut in the face of future uncertainty and interactions between dimensions, stating: "So you can have a target for how much water you use per capita, but does that show you that over time, with climate change, you have less water every year in your reservoir?". Interviewees also consider that the doughnut measures performance more broadly than GDP alone, but that a single indicator to reflect a whole doughnut dimension might still be narrow. One case tried to use multiple

indicators per dimension but realised this was not feasible. Interviewees rely on official targets when making their city portrait and one interviewee raises the question if official targets are enough, stating: "I mean we have targets, but are these targets enough or can we, in an ideal city, do we have to think about a more ambitious target?". Interviewees experience difficulties with assessing how smaller projects impact indicators and express the impacts of different-sized projects need to be weighted depending on their local relevance. Measuring and monitoring performance is perceived as important and there is consideration that this can be made easier by automating certain processes with IT services. Interviewees consider that when using the doughnut as decision-support, an important part of the assessment is defining ways to classify impacts, which might require weighting or normalising outcomes depending on the local context. Interviewees experience an issue with assessing the aggregated impacts of urban planning projects taking place at different scales, creating challenges with linking local activities to global impacts, with one interviewee stating: "And we want to consider that aggregation question, and what do we want to know and why? And then, what will we use that information for?"

Scale

All cases in this study adapted the doughnut to fit their specific local context. Interviewees currently do not consider the doughnut as relevant to very fine scales. The doughnut considers the global impacts of local actions, but interviewees express this is difficult in practice: "Since (...) it's also supposed to take into [account] the global perspective, and I mean it gets hard when it comes to measuring specific projects.". Interviewees express they are influenced by other scales of government while having little to no influence over impacts that occur at larger scales via globalised consumption patterns. Interviewees state local scales of government are suitable for applying the doughnut because of their proximity to their communities and the potentially shorter decision-making paths. One interviewee points out that they currently have a lot of information on local decisions, but that aggregating these to understand global impacts is still a challenge, stating: "how we want to bring all that information together, and then what does that mean for that safe and just operating space? What does that mean for us, you know, as a local authority (...)? And then what does that mean globally?". Several interviewees refer to an important scale mismatch between the mandate of local governments and the dimensions of the doughnut, especially the global-social dimension. Other interviewees also consider how perspectives on different challenges might differ depending on what scale is used to look at the city, stating: "we have the city but we also have quite a few smaller towns that are considered part of the boundary (...) and they will have quite a different perspective to someone who lives in the city in an apartment". Some interviewees also refer to the timescale of sustainability, stating the doughnut can help make an argument for long-term

investments: "I think the doughnut is a good tool to kind of show that it is an investment that needs to be made to be sustainable in the long run". The time scale of the city portrait is also brought up by one interviewee stating they experienced difficulties with the temporal dimension of the targets the city set itself.

The Matter of Growth

The doughnut is growth agnostic, but what this means in urban practice is not yet clear. Interviewees stress that, although the doughnut highlights that economic growth should not be the goal in itself, economic growth is still required for urban development. Interviewees consider that if the doughnut is adopted at high political levels, the institution needs to clearly and transparently communicate where it stands regarding growth: "But if the political government would decide that we're going to be a doughnut city, then I think they would also need to take a clearer stance of; are we going to grow or not? What's the reason for growing?". Several interviewees express their concern about the doughnut being used for greenwashing purposes, stating: "and is it window dressing versus really attempting to look at the equity pieces that are supposed to be the foundations of the social component. Because you can use a doughnut to perpetuate systems, or you can use it to change systems". Interviewees consider that growth is still a contested issue and in most cases, it is not explicitly discussed, or only with people who have an in-depth understanding of the doughnut. One interviewee states: "And I feel like most people are just still so brainwashed to this, that touching on this issue of growth is already (...) you can forget about having any sort of constructive conversation". Interviewees consider that balancing the need for growth to meet social needs versus the environmental impacts it creates is a continuous challenge.

Discussing the Doughnut in the Age of the Urban

The two questions addressed in this study are 1) How is the doughnut currently applied at the local scale, and 2) what is the perceived relevance of the doughnut for sustainable urban planning and decision-making? I have empirically answered these questions using qualitative results, including a literature review, case descriptions, and interviews. In the following section, I provide answers to the main research questions, discuss interpretations and implications in light of existing literature, and provide recommendations for theory and practice.

Answering Research Questions

To answer the first research question, how is the doughnut currently applied at the local scale, I have described academic literature and practical cases that are applying the doughnut locally. Literature on using the doughnut for urban planning and design is limited; there is some focus on trade-offs and synergies in the built environment (Benites & Osmond, 2021; Hassan, 2022) and how the doughnut could be used to enhance the sustainability of specific sectors in urban planning (Moghaddam et al., 2022; Paraskevopoulou et al., 2019). Studies explore how the doughnut can be used in urban institutions and consider collaborative governance to be important in achieving sustainability transitions (Fell & Mattsson, 2021; Moretti, 2022; Ssemugabo et al., 2021). The doughnut is perceived as useful in promoting holistic thinking and communication about sustainability (Eriksson, 2022), but its ability to challenge pervasive notions of growth and development might be limited (Eriksson, 2022; Olsson, 2020; Pasgaard & Dawson, 2019). Challenges for applying the doughnut in local governance are working with complex systems, goal coherence across scales, and managing trade-offs, inequalities and power dynamics (Turner & Wills, 2022). Successful doughnut applications require adaptive management practices, participation by diverse stakeholders, and transdisciplinary collaboration to enable local applications of complex, cross-scale, system science (Turner & Wills, 2022). Methods for locally assessing the doughnut are advancing and significant efforts are being made in developing absolute sustainability assessment methods for urban systems (Bjorn et al., 2020), using planetary boundaries as benchmarks (Goodwin et al., 2021). These studies reveal that many uncertainties remain, as outcomes vary depending on methodological choices (Froemelt et al., 2021; Hjalsted et al., 2021), and the relevance of planetary boundaries at this scale is scrutinised (Ferretto et al., 2022; Wang et al., 2022; Xue & Bakshi, 2022). Overall, methods for assessing the absolute sustainability of urban systems are actively being developed but should be treated with caution as the normative choices made in the process of assessment will have an impact on the outcomes, this is especially true for deciding on a sharing approach for the urban safe and just operating space (Dillman et al., 2021; Froemelt et al., 2021). Footprint and consumption-based approaches are

considered relevant for analysing the local-global interactions of urban sustainability, as they account for the embodied impacts of goods and services (Wiedmann & Allen, 2021). Assessment methods for specific boundaries are also being developed, these emphasise the importance of considering interactions in the planetary boundary framework (i.e., freshwater withdrawals and climate change) (Li et al., 2020). Studies are focussing on how the use of the doughnut across scales can strengthen regional sustainability by looking at how places along the rural-urban gradient may experience overshoot and shortfall in different dimensions which could be reduced through regional planning efforts (Chapman et al., 2021). Computer science approaches have the potential to assist urban planners and decision-makers with assessing the safe and just operating space but underscore the importance of good data availability and quality for accurate assessments (Dahl & Moreno-Navarro, 2022). Downscaling the doughnut poses challenges from both a technical and ethical perspective and there is a lack of consistent approaches for either downscaling or assessing interactions between the different domains of the urban safe and just operating space (Dillman et al., 2021; Ferretto et al., 2022).

Local governments are taking varying approaches to applying the doughnut and tend to use it for enhancing their sustainability ambitions. It is used as an evaluation framework in the context of broader sustainability strategies, to develop plans and programmes for achieving sustainable outcomes, and operationalised for specific decision-support. Participation and collaboration with civil and private groups are common features of places working with the doughnut, and these are perceived as key partners in achieving urban sustainability transitions. All cases in this study rely on the DEAL method, which is place-based and requires local adaptation. Places go about applying the doughnut in creative ways, using experimental approaches, and learning from feedback. The assessment of the doughnut at the local scale is considered challenging and relative. The DEAL methodology relies on identifying targets and categorising these according to the four lenses so that a snapshot of the city shows how it is currently operating in relation to its goals. The use of official policy targets and local adaptations of the doughnut means a relative, rather than an absolute assessment of the urban safe and just operating space.

To answer the second research question, what is the perceived relevance of the doughnut for sustainable urban planning and decision-making, I have looked for common trends and broken patterns of data to identify the overlap and divergence between cases applying the doughnut. The doughnut is considered most relevant as a tool for communicating about sustainability, thinking about it holistically, and considering both ecological and social dimensions. Defining sustainability based on the different socio-ecological dimensions of the doughnut is considered useful for goal coherence between different departments and when involving external stakeholders. Coordination between government departments regarding

sustainability goals, stimulating goal coherence, and breaking through government silos are benefits experienced by local governments working with the doughnut. Moreover, by clearly communicating how local governments engage with sustainability, the doughnut may assist in driving back participation by civil or private actors who want to get involved with local sustainability initiatives. Applying the doughnut helps with identifying and creating synergies between internal and external actors working on sustainability goals, making local sustainability governance an important theme. Local doughnut economics can potentially stimulate changes in governance structures; actors are stimulated to change ways of approaching internal and external collaboration, and external partners are perceived to be important in the implementation of sustainability strategies and plans. However, applying the doughnut alone will not change existing structures, this needs to be accompanied by a change in organisational culture; the doughnut is a model, and it depends on actors to use it in achieving changes.

Working with the doughnut provides local governments with a holistic definition of sustainability that can be used for updating local strategies and plans and potentially provide more specific decision support. When taking an experimental approach, the application process can stimulate adaptive management practices and institutional learning. Ex-ante consideration of trade-offs and synergies in urban planning and development can be enhanced by applying the doughnut, making it a relevant framework for strategic planning purposes. Moreover, considering impacts in advance helps with identifying important conflicts of interest, such as urban growth on agricultural land, and though the doughnut does not specifically assist in settling these conflicts, its application can be used to reinforce urban densification strategies. The doughnut is considered relevant for addressing increasing public concerns about the environment, imagining sustainable futures for a place, and securing long-term investments in sustainability, though it requires proof of concept to be picked up more.

Contingency on political advocacy is a barrier to the continuity of local doughnut applications; if there is no internal and/or external buy-in created in the process of application, progress can be undone when champions disappear. The relevance of the doughnut is limited by the lack of capacity and influence of local governments to apply the model; it is considered time and resource intensive and the model seeks to address areas that are beyond the mandate of local governments, i.e., the global lenses. Moreover, some local actions are mandated by other government scales and cannot be influenced by the limited mandates of local governments. Capacity constraints create a trade-off between measuring and assessing the doughnut versus implementing actions; interviewees consider it difficult to balance the need for accurate information with the need for information to be relevant in practical operations. Assessing the doughnut locally is challenging and slightly contested; measuring and

monitoring targets and indicators are considered crucial, however, the cost of this versus implementing actions to bring about change is high. There is a need for assessments to be accurate to inform planning and decision-making, however, accurate assessments are hard to achieve because of limited capacity and because they require consideration of lenses that local governments have limited to no influence over. Moreover, the cases follow a relative assessment method and face data quality and availability issues, further limiting insight into the global dimension of impacts. Interactions between doughnut dimensions, the use of single indicators to reflect a dimension, and the use of official targets and objectives means applying the doughnut will not necessarily ensure absolute safe and just outcomes in the long term. There are few direct debates about growth and what growth agnosticism means in practice is not yet clear. The doughnut is considered relevant for refarming the role of the economy without having to discuss growth and, in this regard, facilitates constructive conversations. However, growth is still considered contested, calling into question the ability of the doughnut to challenge the pervasive economic growth rationale.

Interpretations and Implications

First, I interpret the results from the two research questions by reflecting on differences and similarities in theoretical and practical approaches to local doughnut applications. Consequently, I will address the third objective of this study by discussing the implications of these results and evaluating them in relation to planetary urbanisation.

The absolute assessment that is being developed in theory is not (yet) practically applicable and it might not be in the near future because of the limited capacity of local governments to engage with multi-scale systems science. The use of planetary boundaries for local sustainability assessment is somewhat contested; uncertainty about interactions among planetary boundaries weakens their ability to inform policy, this is highlighted in theory and practice, both referring to the interactions between climate change and water use. The focus on absolute assessment is in contrast with the relative assessment that is used in practice, building on existing targets and objectives that are not necessarily informed by absolute measures of sustainability, but rather by politics and preferences. The lack of literature available on how to apply the doughnut for fine scales of the built environment is reflected by cases that face challenges applying the doughnut at this scale. The doughnut can reinforce regional sustainability planning, evident in both theory and practice. Accurately assessing the doughnut is contingent on good data availability, a condition often not met in practice, especially for data concerning the global impacts of local actions.

Theory and practice overlap in their focus on governance approaches to working with the doughnut locally and highlight the importance of widespread collaboration in effective urban

sustainability transitions, involving public, private, civil, and academic sectors. Collaboration is hindered by capacity issues, creating possible trade-offs between internal and external outreach, which is only marginally considered in the literature on downscaling. Both theory and practice showcase the relevance of the doughnut as a tool for communicating about sustainability, but in practice, this needs to be accompanied by a change in organisational culture and structure to lead to improved outcomes. Applying the doughnut in practice promotes ex-ante consideration of the impacts of urban development which can assist in improving outcomes, however, this may be limited to the city. The doughnut highlights how the urban has extended impacts and local actions have global consequences, but local governments have limited capacity to address the global lenses because they have no means to significantly influence these within their mandate, something often not considered in theory. When the doughnut is locally adopted in a top-down way, it appears to rely on a combination of champions who will promote its use and moments of opportunity for the doughnut to find its way into official plans and strategies. This implies advocacy coalition needs to be combined with policy opportunities to explain the local application of the model. Creating buy-in beyond political advocacy is crucial for providing continuation to doughnut applications and this is recognised in the literature. This challenge of continuity is exacerbated by that research concludes external civil actors involved need to possess some degree of power to act, which might be indirectly contingent on political champions in cases applying the doughnut top-down. Capacity issues challenge the local assessment of the doughnut and this is not sufficiently considered in current studies; it is considered relevant to have accurate information but local governments are highly limited in their capacity to gather this, exacerbated by assessment taking resources away from implementing actions.

Doughnut economics is limited in practice because the socio-ecological boundaries are defined in relative, rather than absolute terms; they do not necessarily lead to more safe and just outcomes from a global perspective. Relative limits do not account for complex interactions of urban systems with other systems (Solecki et al., 2013) and do not avoid leakage or rebound effects, meaning impacts can still be externalised (Elliot, Torres-Matallana, et al., 2022; Ottelin et al., 2019, 2020). Interactions between planetary boundaries (Häyhä et al., 2016) are problematic for their relevance in informing policy targets; Interviewees state it is difficult to select targets and indicators in the face of future uncertainty and interactions between doughnut dimensions. Despite the recognition of the significant socio-ecological impacts of the urban, rather than the city (Heynen, 2014; Kaika & Swyngedouw, 2014; Swyngedouw, 2006), in practice, these are difficult to assess. More importantly, the global lenses are nearly impossible to influence within the mandate of local governments.

The common approach for downscaling the doughnut uses official targets and objectives, however, these are not necessarily informed by absolute measures of sustainability, but rather by politics and preferences. Theory expresses the need for a critical science of urbanisation (Inostroza, 2014; Solecki et al., 2013), while the local doughnut method is not made to be comparable across cases (Fanning et al., 2022). Practically, it is relevant to locally adapt the doughnut, this is in line with communities selecting limited sets of meaningful indicators rather than aiming to harmonise measurements (Alberti, 1996). Local adaptations help with creating buy-in and measuring and monitoring under capacity constraints, but this limits cross-scale sustainability assessments of urban systems (Alberti, 1996; Solecki et al., 2013).

The doughnut methodology encourages local places to think about urban metabolic impacts, however, the global lenses of the doughnut are most difficult to assess in practice because efforts to enhance sustainability practices are added onto existing government processes (Bridges, 2016; Evenhuis, 2017). The method developed by DEAL is difficult to implement in practice; local governments face significant capacity constraints in trying to address the four lenses, confirming the need for developing decision support that can assist planners and decision-makers in assessing the impacts of their decisions across scales (Häyhä et al., 2016; Turner & Wills, 2022). The local lenses are easier to assess, specifically local ecological for cities that have a strong focus on sustainability, but the social and global dimensions are less well understood, which can be explained by scientific challenges to addressing matters of complexity, scale and uncertainty (Alberti, 2016).

Neither theory nor practice considers the stock of built environments already present in affluent cities and how this stock embodies historical impacts (Inostroza, 2014; Næss, 2001). Assessing the doughnut does not consider the embodied impacts of existing technomass (Inostroza, 2014) and how this affects where a place stands in relation to the safe and just operating space, though the DEAL method states it aims to include this in updates to the method. Nonetheless, cases in this study are still discussing adding additional building stock to meet the needs of urban dwellers, raising questions about the ability of efficient use of space and resources to address sustainability issues in affluent urban areas (Næss, 2001). It might be worthwhile to explore how the embodied impacts of existing building stock can be used to identify relevant measurements and reference conditions for urban systems (Alberti, 2016), especially considering the ambiguity regarding sharing approaches of the safe and just operating space (Dillman et al., 2021; Froemelt et al., 2021). Defining embodied impacts in technomass (Inostroza, 2014) might assist with defining urban shares of the safe and just operating space, as well as defining indicators that link patterns of urbanisation to the conditions of supporting hinterlands (Alberti, 1996).

Using the doughnut to change local institutions is complicated because of the level of transaction cost (Vatn, 2015); accurately assessing overshoot and shortfall locally is highly challenging in practice. Literature on absolute assessment and bottom-up approaches is advancing (Wiedmann & Allen, 2021) and could provide meaningful information on both the city and the urbanisation process (Solecki et al., 2013). However, as of yet, these approaches should be treated with scrutiny in practice, as normative and methodological choices influence outcomes. If these methods are used to inform urban management goals, special attention should be paid to how scientific uncertainty underpinning these goals might lead to undesirable outcomes for some in either the city (Heynen et al., 2006) and/or the urban (Arboleda, 2016; Hornborg, 2016; Swyngedouw, 2006)

The doughnut promotes holistic thinking about socio-ecological challenges and is perceived as a meaningful tool to communicate sustainability inclusively by its users (Eriksson, 2022). The tools provided by DEAL are considered useful and despite encountering issues with the assessment, the four lenses and other tools are perceived to stimulate good conversations. The use of universal basic needs in accounting for the social foundation might conflict with the perceptions, priorities, and preferences of local communities (Custodio et al., 2023; Pasgaard & Dawson, 2019), which is reflected by all cases adapting the doughnut to better fit the local context. The social dimensions are considered more difficult to assess because indicators are less well established, the ambiguity of a universal basic needs perspective in defining the social foundation for a given community, and aggregate quantitative indicators that might not accurately reflect the qualitative reality experienced by the residents of the city (Custodio et al., 2023; Drees et al., 2021; Pasgaard & Dawson, 2019). Applying the doughnut encourages participation and this might minimise the use of limits to marginalise vulnerable groups, as the method explicitly asks to consider who is not being heard in the process of application (Shorter, Grcheva, et al., 2022b, 2022a), allowing for consideration of the diversity of perspectives and concerns held by urban dwellers. Facilitating participation processes can be limited by capacity constraints and trade-offs with focusing on quantitative assessment. Participation in doughnut applications might improve safe and just outcomes for local communities but will not necessarily improve sustainable outcomes from a global perspective (Næss, 2001).

This study deals with formal institutions and the changes investigated are designed (Vatn, 2015), with all cases referring to the importance of advocacy for the doughnut as a driver of its applications. Urban institutions are made up of actors operating within, but also influencing structures (Evenhuis, 2017; Vatn, 2015). When applying the doughnut, actors are presented with the opportunity to influence existing structures, showing signs of path plasticity in local sustainability governance (Evenhuis, 2017). The interrelated nature of socio-ecological

challenges visualised by the doughnut motivates actors to improve internal and external collaboration, potentially changing interactions within the local governance system (Bridges, 2016; Evenhuis, 2017; Vatn, 2015). By improving interactions, especially by stimulating goal coherence between government departments, planning outcomes are perceived to be improved because local government processes can be better aligned (Yigitcanlar & Teriman, 2015). However, achieving and maintaining this paradigmatic shift within the organisation is a challenge. The doughnut is a useful tool for strategic planning and improving local interactions between actors in the governance systems. Local actors focus on working with the doughnut in experimental and participatory ways but face significant capacity constraints (Turner & Wills, 2022). The doughnut needs to be aligned with existing strategies and plans, showing signs of dynamic path dependence in local institutions (Bridges, 2016; Evenhuis, 2017).

Local scales of governance have emerged as key scales for addressing sustainability (Brugmann, 1996; Evans et al., 2006; Næss, 2001), however, this study highlights that local governments face issues with transaction costs when aiming to change governance structures (Vatn, 2015). Moreover, their limited mandates highlight the importance of intergovernmental coordination for achieving sustainability outcomes(Saha, 2009), especially by focusing on how regional sustainability planning can lead to better allocation of environmental benefits and burdens (Chapman et al., 2021). However, these approaches need to consider bottom-up perspectives so that the enhanced sustainability of one region is not at the expense of another (Feng et al., 2022). Local scales of governance have a limited mandate and capacity to address the global dimensions of the doughnut framework. This is problematic because it inhibits assessing the biophysical, socioeconomic, and ethical dimensions that should be considered when downscaling the doughnut (Häyhä et al., 2016). Local governments face problems because of uncertainty related to scales and interactions, limited capacity to assess patterns resulting from socioeconomic processes, and the combination of this leads to limited insight to meaningfully address the ethical dimension.

It is not clear if the doughnut stimulates a renewed urban planning and design paradigm; it provides a holistic definition of sustainability and stimulates thinking about circular resource use (Sodiq et al., 2019) it does not necessarily lead to an understanding of cities as complex, hybrid systems (Alberti, 2016). The use of single indicators to track progress in a given dimension reflects a traditional mechanistic planning paradigm (Heymans et al., 2019; Marshall, 2012) and the relationship between urban environments and natural cycles is unaddressed (Alberti, 2016; Sodiq et al., 2019). Doughnut applications, though facilitating improved local interactions, also perpetuate goal-oriented planning approaches (Næss, 2001) based on the predictability of urban systems. Hence, applying the doughnut does not

challenge the underlying modernist planning rationale nor advance a planning paradigm that enables dealing with complexity and uncertainty (Batty & Marshall, 2012; Portugali, 2012).

The doughnut model emphasises staying within the safe and just operating space rather than economic growth(Raworth, 2017b). The growth-agnostic nature of the model helps facilitate constructive conversations in practice, by avoiding a contested topic. However, it is not clear if the doughnut can challenge the core of the economic rationale (Eriksson, 2022; Olsson, 2020; Spash, 2021); economic and urban development continues to be perceived as important in meeting the social foundation, and whether this happens at the expense of the environment depends on the political priorities and preferences of a place. The doughnut as a visual influencing environmental discourse poses a contradiction in that it denotes boundaries to an ecologically safe and socially just operating space for humanity, and connotates values that fit a strong suitability paradigm because of interconnections between human well-being and the health of the surrounding ecosystem (Benjaminsen, 2021a). However, the doughnut also perpetuates the myth that continued growth and development of affluent urban centres can continue in safe and just ways, without appropriately considering how the urbanisation processes of those centres have and are contributing to current overshoot and shortfall across scales in the world system (Arboleda, 2016; Hornborg, 2016; Inostroza & Zepp, 2021; Swyngedouw, 2006). Despite being growth agnostic, the doughnut also perpetuates the idea that development is a requirement for meeting the social foundation, while the possibility of meeting the social foundation for all under current development trajectories might be a myth (O'Neill et al., 2018; Spash, 2021)

Recommendation for Future Theory and Practice

In this section, I will identify future research and practical recommendations based on the findings of the current study.

Future research can focus on empirically testing the effectiveness of applying the doughnut model to change the material basis of urban systems over time. Longitudinal studies can track changes in resource consumption, waste generation, and environmental impacts of cities that have adopted the doughnut model. Studies might also investigate the transaction costs of downscaling the doughnut model to the local context; this can involve analysing the costs of implementing the doughnut model in different urban contexts, to determine whether those costs are proportional to the benefits gained by its application. Studies focused on local assessment should explore the possibility of using technomass as a basis for defining sharing approaches of the urban safe and just operating space. This can potentially help set orientation values that consider the historic impacts of urban systems. Research should critically engage with the material sustainability of the urban system, both form and flow.

However, this engagement should consider the practical constraints of applying such approaches, such as economic and political factors, that affect their local operability.

For local governments working with the doughnut, it is recommended to focus on the strategic relevance of the doughnut. It is recommended to consider conflicts, trade-offs, and synergies between dimensions of the doughnut in advance; this assists with identifying and addressing potential challenges before they become significant problems. It is recommended to use the doughnut to enhance the way that sustainability is communicated both internally and externally, to help increase awareness and engagement around sustainability issues and build momentum for change in local governance structures. Local governments can map out available targets and indicators locally when capacity allows for this because it is an interesting exercise that potentially improves coordination between departments. However, local governments should be critical of the indicators and targets used, even if they are official, and should consider if current targets are sufficiently ambitious. Current assessments are demanding and do not provide insight into the absolute sustainability of the city, therefore, local governments should be creative when addressing challenges to urban sustainability and might explore alternative ways of assessing performance. The doughnut can be used to communicate values that are aligned with 'strong' sustainability paradigms, allowing for discussions about long-term sustainability without having to address the contested topic of growth.

Concluding Thoughts

In this study, I have aimed to explore the relevance of the doughnut for sustainable urban planning and decision-making in the context of planetary urbanisation. I used qualitative methods to describe recent advances in downscaling the doughnut to the local context, explored the doughnut's relevance for sustainable urban planning and decision-making, and evaluated these findings in light of ongoing planetary urbanisation. I have empirically shown how the doughnut is being locally applied, as well as the perceived relevance of the doughnut by its users.

Working with the doughnut can enhance strategic planning practices because the visualisation of the framework provides a meaningful definition of sustainability that can be communicated both internally and externally. This promotes goal coherence, ex-ante consideration of impacts, collaborative and experimental approaches, and renewed local governance paradigms. Applying the doughnut is mostly relevant for addressing local exchange processes between actors, but as of yet provides limited support for sustainable urban planning and decision-making in the context of planetary urbanisation. Despite methods being developed to assess the sustainability of urban systems across scales, significant theoretical and practical barriers to such approaches remain to be addressed. Working with the doughnut is stimulating cities to consider the cross-scale impacts of local actions because the doughnut includes the global dimensions in the four lenses. However, practically speaking, these are difficult for local governments to assess and, more importantly, influence. The transaction cost associated with broader sustainability considerations might not be proportional to the local scale of government, calling into question the narrative about the role of cities in saving the planet. Greater efforts need to be made to integrate intergovernmental and academic sectors in sustainability planning to address the local-global interactions of urban systems. Working with the doughnut does not appear to challenge the hegemony around local urban and economic growth, as these remain key in meeting the needs of urban dwellers and staying above the doughnut's social foundation. The doughnut might improve sustainability outcomes through changing interactions in the local governance structure, however, this improves sustainability outcomes in the city, rather than the urban space. Applying the doughnut provides cities with an opportunity to change the status quo of interactions between actors in the local governance system and redirect the operations of local institutions. The question remains whether incremental actions of local actors will suffice in halting the rate and pace of socio-ecological deterioration in the age of urbanisation.

References

- Alberti, M. (1996). Measuring urban sustainability. *Environmental Impact Assessment Review*, 16(4–6), 381–424. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0195-9255(96)00083-2
- Alberti, M. (2016). Cities That Think Like Planets. University of Washington Press.
- Amsterdam Circular. (2020). Amsterdam Circular 2020-2025 Strategy. In *Public version*. City of Amsterdam.
- Amsterdam Doughnut Coalition. (n.d.). *About the Amsterdam doughnut coalition*. Retrieved 14 May 2023, from https://amsterdamdonutcoalitie.nl/webpagina/1044/-over-ons-nieuw
- Amsterdam Doughnut Coalition. (2020, April 1). *Doughnut Deals*. https://amsterdamdonutcoalitie.nl/project/6821/donut-deals
- Angelo, H., & Wachsmuth, D. (2015). Urbanizing urban political ecology: A critique of methodological cityism. *International Journal of Urban and Regional Research*, 39(1), 16–27. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2427.12105
- Arboleda, M. (2016). In the Nature of the Non-City: Expanded Infrastructural Networks and the Political Ecology of Planetary Urbanisation. *Antipode*, *48*(2), 233–251. https://doi.org/10.1111/anti.12175
- Asafu-Adjay, J., Blomqvist, L., Brand, S., Brook, B., DeFries, R., Ellis, E., Foreman, C., Keith, D., Lewis, M., Lynas, M., Nordhaus, T., Pielke, R. J., Pritzker, R., Roy, J., Sagoff, M., Shellenberger, M., Stone, R., & Teague, P. (2015). *AN ECOMODERNIST MANIFESTO*.
- Batty, M., & Marshall, S. (2012). The Origins of Complexity Theory in Cities and Planning. In J. Portugali, E. Stolk, H. Meyer, & E. Tan (Eds.), *Complexity Theories of Cities Have Come of Age* (pp. 21–46). Springer.
- Benites, H. S., & Osmond, P. (2021). Bioconnections as enablers of regenerative circularity for the built environment. *Urban Planning*, *6*(4), 25–39. https://doi.org/10.17645/up.v6i4.4373
- Benjaminsen, T. A. (2021a). Depicting decline: images and myths in environmental discourse analysis. Landscape Research, 46(2), 211–225. https://doi.org/10.1080/01426397.2020.1737663
- Benjaminsen, T. A. (2021b). Virtual Forum introduction: Environmental limits, scarcity and degrowth. *Political Geography*, 87, 102344. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polgeo.2021.102344

- Benjaminsen, T. A., & Svarstad, H. (2021). *Political Ecology: a critical engagement with global environmental issues*. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Biermann, F. (2012). Planetary boundaries and earth system governance: Exploring the links. *Ecological Economics*, *81*, 4–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2012.02.016
- Bjorn, A., Chandrakumar, C., Boulay, A. M., Doka, G., Fang, K., Gondran, N., Hauschild, M. Z., Kerkhof, A., King, H., Margni, M., McLaren, S., Mueller, C., Owsianiak, M., Peters, G., Roos, S., Sala, S., Sandin, G., Sim, S., Vargas-Gonzalez, M., & Ryberg, M. (2020). Review of life-cycle based methods for absolute environmental sustainability assessment and their applications. *Environmental Research Letters*, *15*(8). https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ab89d7
- Brand, U., Muraca, B., Pineault, É., Sahakian, M., Schaffartzik, A., Novy, A., Streissler, C., Haberl, H., Asara, V., Dietz, K., Lang, M., Kothari, A., Smith, T., Spash, C., Brad, A., Pichler, M., Plank, C., Velegrakis, G., Jahn, T., ... Görg, C. (2021). From planetary to societal boundaries: an argument for collectively defined self-limitation. *Sustainability: Science, Practice, and Policy, 17*(1), 265–292. https://doi.org/10.1080/15487733.2021.1940754
- Brenner, N., & Katsikis, N. (2020). Operational Landscapes: Hinterlands of the Capitalocene. *Architectural Design*, *90*(1), 22–31. https://doi.org/10.1002/ad.2521
- Brenner, N., & Schmid, C. (2011). Planetary Urbanization. In *Urban constellations* (pp. 10–13). Jovis.
- Bridges, A. (2016). The role of institutions in sustainable urban governance. *Natural Resources Forum*, *40*(4), 169–179. https://doi.org/10.1111/1477-8947.12116
- Broto, V. C., Allen, A., & Rapoport, E. (2012). Interdisciplinary Perspectives on Urban Metabolism. *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, *16*(6), 851–861. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-9290.2012.00556.x
- Brugmann, J. (1996). Planning for sustainability at the local government level. *Environmental Impact Assessment Review*, 16(4–6), 363–379. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0195-9255(97)81658-7
- C40 Cities. (2023). Thriving Cities Initiative. C40 Cities Climate Leadership Group, Inc.
- Calisto Friant, M., Vermeulen, W. J. V., & Salomone, R. (2020). A typology of circular economy discourses: Navigating the diverse visions of a contested paradigm. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, *161*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2020.104917

- Chapman, E., Rogers, L., & Kay, A. (2021). Toward Just and Sustainable Cities: Identifying Key Areas for Urban, Peri-Urban and Rural Sustainability Collaborative Initiatives. International Journal of Environmental Impacts: Management, Mitigation and Recovery, 4(1), 36–48. https://doi.org/10.2495/ei-v4-n1-36-48
- City of Amsterdam. (2020). Amsterdam Circular Monitor. City of Amsterdam.
- City of Barcelona. (n.d.-a). *Barcelona moves towards a new economic model*. Retrieved 14 May 2023, from https://www.barcelona.cat/barcelona-pel-clima/en/barcelona-responds/introduction
- City of Barcelona. (n.d.-b). *This is not a drill: Barcelona climate emergency declaration*. Retrieved 14 May 2023, from https://www.barcelona.cat/emergenciaclimatica/ca
- City of Nanaimo. (2022). City Plan: Nanaimo Reimagined. City of Nanaimo.
- Cornwall and Isles of Scilly Leadership Board. (2020). *The Cornwall Plan 2020-2050*. Cornwall and Isles of Scilly Leadership Board.
- Costanza, R., de Groot, R., Braat, L., Kubiszewski, I., Fioramonti, L., Sutton, P., Farber, S., & Grasso, M. (2017). Twenty years of ecosystem services: How far have we come and how far do we still need to go? *Ecosystem Services*, 28, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2017.09.008
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, D. J. (2018). Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches (5th ed.). SAGE.
- Crowley, D., Marat-Mendes, T., Falanga, R., Henfrey, T., & Penha-Lopes, G. (2021). Towards a necessary regenerative urban planning. Insights from community-led initiatives for ecocity transformation. *Cidades*, 83–104. https://doi.org/10.15847/CCT.20505
- Crutzen, P. J. (2002). Geology of mankind. Nature, 415.
- Custodio, H. M., Hadjikakou, M., & Bryan, B. A. (2023). A review of socioeconomic indicators of sustainability and wellbeing building on the social foundations framework. *Ecological Economics*, 203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2022.107608
- Dahl, V., & Moreno-Navarro, J. J. (2022). Doughnut Computing in City Planning for Achieving Human and Planetary Rights. *Lecture Notes in Computer Science Book Series* (*LNCS, Volume 13259*), 13259 *LNCS*, 562–572. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-06527-9_56
- D'Alisa, G., Demaria, F., & Kallis, G. (2015). Degrowth: a vocabulary for a new era. Routledge.

- DEAL. (2023a). *Cities and Regions*. Doughnut Economics Action Lab. https://doughnuteconomics.org/themes/1
- DEAL. (2023b). *Creating City Portraits*. Doughnut Economics Action Lab. https://doughnuteconomics.org/tools/14
- Dearing, J. A., Wang, R., Zhang, K., Dyke, J. G., Haberl, H., Hossain, M. S., Langdon, P. G., Lenton, T. M., Raworth, K., Brown, S., Carstensen, J., Cole, M. J., Cornell, S. E., Dawson, T. P., Doncaster, C. P., Eigenbrod, F., Flörke, M., Jeffers, E., Mackay, A. W., ... Poppy, G. M. (2014). Safe and just operating spaces for regional social-ecological systems. *Global Environmental Change*, 28(1), 227–238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2014.06.012
- Department of Internal Affairs. (2002). *Local Government Act 2002*. New Zealand Legislation. https://www.legislation.govt.nz/act/public/2002/0084/latest/DLM170879.html?search=sw _096be8ed81d39574_well-being_25_se&p=1&sr=0
- Dillman, K. J., Czepkiewicz, M., Heinonen, J., & Davíðsdóttir, B. (2021). A safe and just space for urban mobility: A framework for sector-based sustainable consumption corridor development. *Global Sustainability*, *4*. https://doi.org/10.1017/sus.2021.28
- Dorninger, C., Hornborg, A., Abson, D. J., von Wehrden, H., Schaffartzik, A., Giljum, S., Engler, J. O., Feller, R. L., Hubacek, K., & Wieland, H. (2021). Global patterns of ecologically unequal exchange: Implications for sustainability in the 21st century. *Ecological Economics*, 179(September 2020), 106824. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2020.106824
- Drees, L., Luetkemeier, R., & Kerber, H. (2021). Necessary or oversimplification? On the strengths and limitations of current assessments to integrate social dimensions in planetary boundaries. *Ecological Indicators*, 129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2021.108009
- Elliot, T., Goldstein, B., Gómez-Baggethun, E., Proença, V., & Rugani, B. (2022). Ecosystem service deficits of European cities. *Science of the Total Environment*, 837. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.155875
- Elliot, T., Torres-Matallana, J. A., Goldstein, B., Babí Almenar, J., Gómez-Baggethun, E., Proença, V., & Rugani, B. (2022). An expanded framing of ecosystem services is needed for a sustainable urban future. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2022.112418

- Eriksson, F. (2022). Towards a critical understanding of Doughnut Economics-The case of Tomelilla, Sweden. Lunds Universitet.
- Evans, B., Joas, M., Sundback, S., & Theobald, K. (2006). Governing local sustainability. *Journal of Environmental Planning and Management*, 49(6), 849–867. https://doi.org/10.1080/09640560600946875
- Evenhuis, E. (2017). Institutional change in cities and regions: A path dependency approach.

 Cambridge Journal of Regions, Economy and Society, 10(3), 509–526.

 https://doi.org/10.1093/cjres/rsx014
- Fanning, A., Raworth, K., Krestyaninova, O., & Eriksson, F. (2022). Data Portrait of Place. In *Doughnut unrolled*. Doughnut Economics Action Lab.
- Fell, T., & Mattsson, J. (2021). The role of public-private partnerships in housing as a potential contributor to sustainable cities and communities: A systematic review. *Sustainability* (*Switzerland*), *13*(14). https://doi.org/10.3390/su13147783
- Feng, B., Zhuo, L., Mekonnen, M. M., Marston, L. T., Yang, X., Xu, Z., Liu, Y., Wang, W., Li, Z., Li, M., Ji, X., & Wu, P. (2022). Inputs for staple crop production in China drive burden shifting of water and carbon footprints transgressing part of provincial planetary boundaries. *Water Research*, 221. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2022.118803
- Ferretto, A., Matthews, R., Brooker, R., & Smith, P. (2022). Planetary Boundaries and the Doughnut frameworks: A review of their local operability. *Anthropocene*, *39*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ancene.2022.100347
- Fletcher, A. J. (2017). Applying critical realism in qualitative research: methodology meets method. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, *20*(2), 181–194. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2016.1144401
- Froemelt, A., Pfister, S., & Zurich, E. (2021). *Multiscale Orientation Values for Biodiversity Climate and Water.* https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.32072.44806
- Gómez-Baggethun, E. (2020). More is more: Scaling political ecology within limits to growth. *Political Geography*, 76, 102095. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polgeo.2019.102095
- Gómez-Baggethun, E., & Naredo, J. M. (2015). In search of lost time: the rise and fall of limits to growth in international sustainability policy. *Sustainability Science*, *10*, 385–395. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11625-015-0308-6
- Goodland, R. (1995). The Concept of Environmental Sustainability. *Annual Review of Ecology* and Systematics, 26, 1–24. https://about.jstor.org/terms

- Goodwin, K., Wiedmann, T., Chen, G., & Teh, S. H. (2021). Benchmarking urban performance against absolute measures of sustainability A review. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 314. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.128020
- Hassan, T. (2022). Doughnut Urbanism. University of Groningen.
- Häyhä, T., Lucas, P. L., van Vuuren, D. P., Cornell, S. E., & Hoff, H. (2016). From Planetary Boundaries to national fair shares of the global safe operating space How can the scales be bridged? *Global Environmental Change*, *40*, 60–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2016.06.008
- Heymans, A., Breadsell, J., Morrison, G. M., Byrne, J. J., & Eon, C. (2019). Ecological urban planning and design: A systematic literature review. *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, *11*(13). https://doi.org/10.3390/su11133723
- Heynen, N. (2014). Urban political ecology I: The urban century. *Progress in Human Geography*, *38*(4), 598–604. https://doi.org/10.1177/0309132513500443
- Heynen, N., Perkins, H. A., & Roy, P. (2006). The political ecology of uneven urban green space: The impact of political economy on race and ethnicity in producing environmental inequality in Milwaukee. *Urban Affairs Review*, *42*(1), 3–25. https://doi.org/10.1177/1078087406290729
- Hjalsted, A. W., Laurent, A., Andersen, M. M., Olsen, K. H., Ryberg, M., & Hauschild, M. (2021). Sharing the safe operating space: Exploring ethical allocation principles to operationalize the planetary boundaries and assess absolute sustainability at individual and industrial sector levels. *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, *25*(1), 6–19. https://doi.org/10.1111/jiec.13050
- Hornborg, A. (2016). Global Magic. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Huber, M. T. (2021). The case for socialist modernism. *Political Geography*, 87, 102352 Contents. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polgeo.2021.102352
- Inostroza, L. (2014). Measuring urban ecosystem functions through 'Technomass' A novel indicator to assess urban metabolism. *Ecological Indicators*, *42*, 10–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2014.02.035
- Inostroza, L. (2018). The circularity of the urban ecosystem material productivity: The transformation of biomass into technomass in Southern Patagonia. *Sustainable Cities and Society*, *39*, 335–343. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scs.2018.03.001

- Inostroza, L., Baur, R., & Csaplovics, E. (2013). Urban sprawl and fragmentation in Latin America: A dynamic quantification and characterization of spatial patterns. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 115, 87–97.
- Inostroza, L., Hamstead, Z., Spyra, M., & Qhreshi, S. (2019). Beyond urban–rural dichotomies: Measuring urbanisation degrees in central European landscapes using the technomass as an explicit indicator. *Ecological Indicators*, *96*, 466–476. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2018.09.028
- Inostroza, L., & Zepp, H. (2021). The metabolic urban network: Urbanisation as hierarchically ordered space of flows. *Cities*, *109*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cities.2020.103029
- Kaika, M., & Swyngedouw, E. (2014). Radical urban political-ecological imaginaries. *Eurozine*, 1–9.
- Kay, A. (2005). A critique of the use of path dependency in policy studies. *Public Administration*, *83*(3), 553–571. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0033-3298.2005.00462.x
- Keil, R. (2005). Progress report Urban political ecology. *Urban Geography*, *26*(7), 640–651. https://doi.org/10.2747/0272-3638.26.7.640
- Keil, R. (2020). An urban political ecology for a world of cities. *Urban Studies*, *57*(11), 2357–2370. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042098020919086
- Li, M., Wiedmann, T., Liu, J., Wang, Y., Hu, Y., Zhang, Z., & Hadjikakou, M. (2020). Exploring consumption-based planetary boundary indicators: An absolute water footprinting assessment of Chinese provinces and cities. *Water Research*, 184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2020.116163
- Luque-Lora, R. (2021). Engaging imaginaries, rejecting utopias: The case for technological progress and political realism to sustain material wellbeing. *Political Geography*, 87, 102358. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polgeo.2021.102358
- Marcotullio, P. J., & Solecki, W. (2013). Climate Change and Urban Biodiversity Vulnerability.
 In C. Elmqvist, Thomas; Fragkias, Michail; Güneralp, Burak; Goodness, Julie;
 Marcotullio, Peter J.; McDonald, Robert I.; Parnell, Susan, Schewenius, Maria; Sendstad,
 Marte; Seto, Karen C.; Wilkinson (Ed.), *Urbanization, Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services: Challenges and Opportunities: A Global Assessment* (pp. 485–504). Springer.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-7088-1

- Marshall, S. (2012). Planning, Design and the Complexity of Cities. In J. Portugali, E. Stolk, H. Meyer, & E. Tan (Eds.), *Complexity Theories of Cities Have Come of Age* (pp. 191–206). Springer.
- Meadows, D. H., Meadows, D. L., Randers, J., & Behrens III, W. W. (1972). *The Limits to Growth*.
- Mehta, L., & Harcourt, W. (2021). Beyond limits and scarcity: Feminist and decolonial contributions to degrowth. *Political Geography*, *89*(April), 102411. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polgeo.2021.102411
- Mehta, L., Huff, A., & Allouche, J. (2019). The new politics and geographies of scarcity. *Geoforum*, 101, 222–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2018.10.027
- Moghaddam, A. A., Mirzahossein, H., & Guzik, R. (2022). Comparing Inequality in Future Urban Transport Modes by Doughnut Economy Concept. *Sustainability*, *14*(21), 14462. https://doi.org/10.3390/su142114462
- Moretti, M. (2022). Can Doughnut Economics Fill Amsterdam's Dietary Needs? A Critical Examination of The City's New Circular and Climate Strategy. European University Institute.
- Municipality of Tomelilla. (n.d.). *The quality of life program.* Retrieved 14 May 2023, from https://www.tomelilla.se/kommun-och-politik/hallbar-utveckling/livskvalitetsprogrammet
- Næss, P. (2001). Urban planning and sustainable development. *European Planning Studies*, *9*(4), 503–524. https://doi.org/10.1080/713666490
- Næss, P. (2015). Critical Realism, Urban Planning and Urban Research. *European Planning Studies*, 23(6), 1228–1244. https://doi.org/10.1080/09654313.2014.994091
- Nazrul Islam, S., & Winkel, J. (2017). *Climate change and social inequality* (No. 152). https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315103358
- Newell, J. P., & Cousins, J. J. (2015). The boundaries of urban metabolism: Towards a political–industrial ecology. *Progress in Human Geography*, *39*(6), 702–728. https://doi.org/10.1177/0309132514558442
- Olsson, D. (2020). The Transformative Potential of Resilience Thinking: How It Could Transform Unsustainable Economic Rationalities. *Alternatives*, *45*(2), 102–120. https://doi.org/10.1177/0304375420938284

- O'Neill, D. W., Fanning, A. L., Lamb, W. F., & Steinberger, J. K. (2018). A good life for all within planetary boundaries. *Nature Sustainability*, 1(2), 88–95. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-018-0021-4
- Ottelin, J., Ala-Mantila, S., Heinonen, J., Wiedmann, T., Clarke, J., & Junnila, S. (2019). What can we learn from consumption-based carbon footprints at different spatial scales? Review of policy implications. *Environmental Research Letters*, *14*(9). https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ab2212
- Ottelin, J., Cetinay, H., & Behrens, P. (2020). Rebound effects may jeopardize the resource savings of circular consumption: evidence from household material footprints. *Environmental Research Letters*, *15*(10). https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/abaa78
- Paraskevopoulou, C., Cornaro, A., Admiraal, H., & Paraskevopoulou, A. (2019). *Underground* space and urban sustainability: an integrated approach to the city of the future. http://www.tduk.org
- Pasgaard, M., & Dawson, N. (2019). Looking beyond justice as universal basic needs is essential to progress towards 'safe and just operating spaces'. *Earth System Governance*, 2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.esg.2019.100030
- Portugali, J. (2012). Complexity Theories of Cities: Implications to Urban Planning. In *Complexity Theories of Cities Have Come of Age* (pp. 221–244). Springer.
- Randall, A. (2022). Driving with Eyes on the Rear-View Mirror—Why Weak Sustainability Is Not Enough. *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, *14*(16). https://doi.org/10.3390/su141610203
- Raworth, K. (2017a). A Doughnut for the Anthropocene: humanity's compass in the 21st century. *The Lancet*, *1*, 48–49.
- Raworth, K. (2017b). *Doughnut Economics*. Penguin Random House UK.
- Raworth, K., Shorter, R., Grcheva, L., Fanning, A., & Priester, R. (2022). Introducing the four lenses. In *Doughnut unrolled*. Doughnut Economics Action Lab.
- Robbins, P. (2020a). Is less more ... or is more less? Scaling the political ecologies of the future. *Political Geography*, *76*, 102018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polgeo.2019.04.010
- Robbins, P. (2020b). Political Ecology: a critical introduction (3rd ed.). Wiley-Blackwell.
- Rockström, J., Steffen, W., Noone, K., Persson, Å., Chapin, F. S., Lambin, E., Lenton, T. M., Scheffer, M., Folke, C., Schellnhuber, H., Nykvist, B., de Wit, C. A., Hughes, T., van der Leeuw, S., Rodhe, H., Sörlin, S., Snyder, P. K., Costanza, R., Svedin, U., ... Foley, J. (2009). *Planetary Boundaries: Exploring the Safe Operating Space for Humanity*.

- Saha, D. (2009). Factors Influencing Local Government Sustainability Efforts. *State and Local Government Review*, *41*(1), 39–48.
- Seto, K. C., Parnell, S., & Elmqvist, T. (2013). Chapter 1: A Global Outlook on Urbanization. In T. Elmqvist, M. Fragkias, J. Goodness, B. Güneralp, P. J. Marcotullio, R. I. McDonald, S. Parnell, M. Schewenius, M. Sendstad, K. C. Seto, & C. Wilkinson (Eds.), *Urbanization, Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services: Challenges and Opportunities* (pp. 1–12). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-7088-1
- Shorter, R., Grcheva, L., Raworth, K., Fanning, A., & Priester, R. (2022a). Community Portrait of Place. In *Doughnut unrolled*. Doughnut Economic Action Lab.
- Shorter, R., Grcheva, L., Raworth, K., Fanning, A., & Priester, R. (2022b). Exploring a topic. In *Doughnut unrolled*. Doughnut Economics Action Lab.
- Shorter, R., Raworth, K., Grcheva, L., Fanning, A., & Piester, R. (2022). Dimensions of the four lenses. In *Doughnut Unrolled*. Doughnut Economics Action Lab.
- SIKT. (n.d.). Sikt Norwegian Agency for Shared Services in Education and Research.

 Retrieved 14 May 2023, from https://sikt.no/en/about-sikt
- Sodiq, A., Baloch, A. A. B., Khan, S. A., Sezer, N., Mahmoud, S., Jama, M., & Abdelaal, A. (2019). Towards modern sustainable cities: Review of sustainability principles and trends. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 227, 972–1001. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.04.106
- Solecki, W., Seto, K. C., & Marcotullio, P. J. (2013). It's time for an urbanization science. *Environment*, 55(1), 12–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/00139157.2013.748387
- Spash, C. L. (2021). Apologists for growth: passive revolutionaries in a passive revolution. *Globalizations*, *18*(7), 1123–1148. https://doi.org/10.1080/14747731.2020.1824864
- Ssemugabo, C., Nalinya, S., Lubega, G. B., Ndejjo, R., & Musoke, D. (2021). Health risks in our environment: Urban slum youth' perspectives using photovoice in Kampala, Uganda. *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, *13*(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13010248
- Steffen, W., Broadgate, W., Deutsch, L., Gaffney, O., & Ludwig, C. (2015). The trajectory of the anthropocene: The great acceleration. *Anthropocene Review*, *2*(1), 81–98. https://doi.org/10.1177/2053019614564785
- Steffen, W., Richardson, K., Rockström, J., Cornell, S. E., Fetzer, I., Bennett, E. M., Biggs, R., Carpenter, S. R., de Vries, W., de Wit, C. A., Folke, C., Gerten, D., Heinke, J., Mace, G. M., Persson, L. M., Ramanathan, V., Reyers, B., & Sörlin, S. (2015). Planetary

- boundaries: Guiding human development on a changing planet. *Science*, *347*(6223). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1259855
- Swyngedouw, E. (2006). Circulations and metabolisms: (Hybrid) natures and (cyborg) cities. *Science as Culture*, *15*(2), 105–121. https://doi.org/10.1080/09505430600707970
- Swyngedouw, E., & Kaika, M. (2014). Urban political ecology. Great promises, deadlock... and new beginnings? *Documents d'Analisi Geografica*, 60(3), 459–481. https://doi.org/10.5565/rev/dag.155
- The national research ethics committees. (2019, February 10). *General research ethics guidelines*. https://www.forskningsetikk.no/retningslinjer/generelle/
- Thriving Cities Initiative. (2020a). Creating City Portraits. In *A methodological guide from The Thriving Cities Initiative*. DEAL, Biomimicry 3.8, C40 Cities, Circle Economy, KR Foundation.
- Thriving Cities Initiative. (2020b). The Amsterdam City Doughnut.
- Turner, R. A., & Wills, J. (2022). Downscaling doughnut economics for sustainability governance. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, 56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2022.101180
- UN-Habitat. (2020). World Cities Report 2020 The Value of Sustainable Urbanization Key Findings and Messages.
- Vatn, A. (2015). *Environmental Governance: Institutions, Policies and Actions*. Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Wang, J., Huang, K., Liu, H., & Yu, Y. (2022). The ecological boundary gap is gradually tightening in China's megacities: Taking Beijing as a case. *Science of the Total Environment*, 806. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.151484
- Wiedmann, T., & Allen, C. (2021). City footprints and SDGs provide untapped potential for assessing city sustainability. *Nature Communications*, *12*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-23968-2
- Wiedmann, T., Schandl, H., Lenzen, M., Moran, D., Suh, S., West, J., & Kanemoto, K. (2015).
 The material footprint of nations. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 112(20), 6271–6276.
 https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1220362110
- World Bank. (2023, May 14). *Urban population (% of total population)*. World Bank Data. https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.URB.TOTL.IN.ZS

- World Economic Forum. (2023). The Global Risks Report 2023. www.weforum.org
- Xue, Y., & Bakshi, B. R. (2022). Metrics for a nature-positive world: A multiscale approach for absolute environmental sustainability assessment. Science of the Total Environment, 846. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.157373
- Yigitcanlar, T., & Teriman, S. (2015). Rethinking sustainable urban development: towards an integrated planning and development process. *International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, *12*(1), 341–352. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13762-013-0491-x
- Zengerling, C. (2019). Governing the city of flows: How urban metabolism approaches may strengthen accountability in strategic planning. *Urban Planning*, *4*(1), 187–199. https://doi.org/10.17645/up.v4i1.1750

Appendices

Appendix A: format literature review

Title
Authors
Type of source
Published where
Objective/questions
Definition of key concepts
Method and theories used
Scale/case
Results and conclusion
How does this relate to knowledge about urban safe and just operating space
If and how does the paper assess the urban safe and just operating space
If and how does the paper relate to the use of safe and just operating space in institutions/planning/decision-making
What are barriers and opportunities towards operationalisation of urban safe and just operating space

Other comments		

Appendix B: Case Codebook

	City
Motivation	
Context	
Initiation	
Approach	
challenges	

Appendix C: Interview Guide

Talking points for semi-structured interviews

Welcome the interviewee, thank them for their participation, and allow them to ask questions before the interview begins. Confirm they have received the information letter and discuss the terms of consent. Also as for oral permission to record the interview before starting recording.

Role of interviewee within the city:

- In what capacity do you work for the city (position, department)?

The process of applying the doughnut

- What motivated the city to work with the doughnut?
- How is the city applying/operationalising the doughnut economics framework?
- If and how did the city assess their safe and just operating space?
- What stakeholders have been involved in the process?
- What is still needed for the city to better understand/operationalise/assess their safe and just operating space?

Doughnut experiences in the city:

- What are the barriers and opportunities for local/city governments to apply the doughnut economics framework/integrate it into urban institutions?
- What is the relevance of the doughnut economics framework for urban planning and decision-making for sustainability?
- Has working with the doughnut had an influence on debates regarding growth, and if so, how?

Future development:

- Do you anticipate an increase/decrease in the application of urban doughnut economies? And why
- What is important to consider for cities that want to start working with the doughnut?

